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Smart Connections
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Every day, we make connections happen. 
A mother with her daughter. 
Corporations with their client. 
Cargo with its destination. 
But it’s the connections that 
aren’t obvious that truly make 
the way we operate 
smart.
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Economic
Downturn
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ECONOMY TRAVELLERS

The new economy has 
required all businesses
to re-evaluate their
operations and direction.
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We have responded 
by resetting our vision
to focus on airlines
and travellers.

Our goal in this new economy is to ensure that 
travellers continue to use Toronto Pearson.

To accomplish this, we developed a four-step 
action plan that focused on saving costs in 
a variety of ways. Despite posting a six per cent 
decline in traffi c, we introduced a reduction in 
airline landing fees and terminal charges, as well 
as a partner incentive plan, which made Toronto 
Pearson even more attractive and brought new 
airlines to our facility.

We took the opportunity to prepare for the future. 
This means we are well-positioned for growth 
in the coming years and are looking forward to 
reaping the results of the groundwork we’ve laid.
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Traveller
Upside
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More
Routes
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This year we introduced 
more than a dozen new
routes and attracted
four new airlines.
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Our environment 
and community
are better for it. 

Our bold 25 per cent reduction in air cargo 
landing fees attracted new cargo business 
and, most importantly, opened the way to 
reducing carbon emissions. How?

As more cargo businesses take advantage 
of the reduced fees, more trucks can be 
removed from Ontario’s roads. That could 
result in a reduction of tens of thousands 
of trucks annually, resulting in less air 
pollution and traffi c.

And as we work to be even more environmentally 
sustainable, we encourage our cargo carriers to 
be more energy effi cient through an innovative 
incentive program, which encourages air 
carriers to modernize their fl eets to newer, 
quieter and more fuel-effi cient aircraft.
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More
Roots
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Lean
Operations
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MORE EFFICIENT
SNOW REMOVAL

SERVICE

REDUCED
SPENDING

This year we focused on 
cutting costs, reducing 
overhead and encouraging
effi cient spending.
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And soon the airport 
will have something 
for everyone.

At Toronto Pearson, we’re working hard to 
deliver that sense of excitement, the wonder 
of air travel and the anticipation of “going 
to the airport” that children have. We asked 
guests what they want, how we can improve 
their experience, and how we can better 
meet their needs. 

As a result, we have added comfortable 
lounges, and will continue our efforts to 
offer a wider variety of restaurants and 
shops, and new services. All of which result 
in better amenities for all travellers. 

Through this process, we’re gaining a better 
understanding of our customers, and will 
continue to listen, learn and respond smartly.
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Lean
Back
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Union
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2008

2009

Downtown Toronto 
is 27 km away from 
the airport.
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This year, 
we moved 
a little closer.

Every day, Union Station is a hub for 165,000 
Torontonians. Yet it lacks an effi cient, direct 
transit link to the airport. This year, we made 
signifi cant progress in changing that.

A proposed Air Rail Link system came many 
steps closer when approval was given for an 
environmental assessment study. 

When this link is complete, the strengthened 
connection between Toronto’s public trans-
portation hubs will make travelling to and from 
Toronto Pearson even faster, making smart 
connections easier.
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Reunion
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The Run 
Way
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15 KM

$130,000

15 km of runways, 
spinning turbines 
and a fl urry of activity.
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A perfect place to 
contribute to our 
community.

For 364 days a year, the runways at Toronto 
Pearson are astonishingly busy. But for 
one day, they turn into a home for charity. 
This year, our annual Runway Run attracted 
2,000 participants and raised more than 
$130,000 for the Credit Valley Hospital 
Foundation. 

In addition, we also collaborated with the 
United Way to raise upwards of $100,000 – 
more than double our target.

These connections to our community aren’t 
just smart, they’re ones that make us feel 
especially proud.
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The Right 
Way
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Business
Operations

While 2009 proved to be a 
challenging year for many in 
the industry, the solid foundation 
created by our strategic plan 
enabled us to undertake a number 
of leading edge initiatives, resulting 
in cost savings for our customers 
and improvements in effi ciency.
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Extending Our Strategic Plan

We managed to succeed in a year that was dominated by a major global economic recession. 

In 2009, we implemented a four-point response plan to address the economic downturn, which 

featured a capital spending review, cost reduction measures, an improved incentive plan for new 

carriers and routes, and an increase in our airport improvement fee. This approach was consistent 

with our smart, well-considered corporate strategic plan. The GTAA also took the opportunity 

to extend and renew its vision for the future. It means we are well-positioned for growth and 

continued improvement in the years to come.

Transforming Our Business

The corporation is entering a new phase in its evolution as an organization by shifting our focus 

from construction and building to looking at how we work and function to serve our customers. 

As we evolve, in keeping with our strategic plan, we are reviewing how we conduct our day-to-day 

business and will be implementing a number of necessary changes in 2010 that will have a positive 

impact on our customers. These projects are being driven by our need to critically evaluate our 

current practices, processes and procedures to ensure that they are effective and effi cient. 

To this end, all GTAA departments are undergoing reviews to ensure the proper allocation 

of resources, improved effi ciency, and we are managing risks while operating the airport in 

a safe and sustainable manner. In particular, two substantial business transformation projects 

were initiated in 2009.

Information Technology and Telecommunications

With a view towards managing our risks, improving customer service and reducing costs, 

in 2009 we began the process of outsourcing our information technology capabilities to a third 

party provider. Not only will this assist in making the GTAA more effi cient, we will also be able 

to ensure that Toronto Pearson builds on our internationally recognized reputation as a leader 

in airport technology. The implementation of any change will not occur until mid-2010.
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Facilities, Operations and Customer Experience

The second of two critical business transformation projects, this project was initiated early in 2009, 

with the end goal of continuing to improve the customer service we provide by working in an inte-

grated way across our operations and facilities departments. The new structure will allow for better 

communication and more effi cient distribution of work, eliminating any overlap of services that 

currently exist, and will give individual employees more say in how they carry out their day-to-day 

responsibilities. The implementation of these operational changes will occur later in 2010.

Improved Quality Management

The GTAA continued its phased implementation of our corporate quality management program, 

designed to improve the effi ciency of business processes and their responsiveness to customer 

needs. This program, QPlus, encourages staff to look for ways to continually improve and enrich 

their work and identify opportunities for effi ciencies, innovation and revenue generation. Since 

its implementation in 2008, several initial successes were achieved through the quality review of 

specifi c work processes, including our infectious diseases response plan, snow removal and uniform 

procurement practices, newspaper delivery and pre-arranged taxi and limo services.

Business Growth

We have worked diligently with our airline customers to help grow their businesses, and have 

attracted new airlines. In March Air India began daily fl ights to India. Mid-year, Emirates replaced 

their B777s with new A380s on their non-stop fl ights to Dubai, making Toronto Pearson one of the 

fi rst airports to welcome this impressive aircraft. Turkish Airlines began direct fl ights to Istanbul, 

and Korean Air launched daily service to Seoul. In September, Korean Air Cargo added a third 

weekly B747-400F fl ight, bringing up their frequency to a Wednesday, Friday, Saturday service. 

Towards the end of 2009, WestJet began fl ights to Atlantic City and Miami, with Air Canada 

adding non-stop service to Tokyo and Shanghai.

Despite the economic downturn, we continued our role as a responsible corporate citizen, giving 

back to the communities we serve through sponsorship of numerous activities, events and groups, 

such as Caribana and the NXNE music festival. We once again delivered record contributions to 

charity, including the United Way and our now-annual Runway Run in support of local hospitals. 

We continue to be a leader in Partners in Project Green, an innovative project designed to create 

an industrial eco-zone in the area around the airport.
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Corporate 
Governance

The GTAA management team reports 
to a Board of Directors that is uniquely 
representative of the surrounding 
community. Directors are chosen for 
their ability to refl ect their constituencies, 
as well as for the special skills they bring 
to overseeing a complex, industry-leading 
enterprise with signifi cant social and 
economic impact.
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The GTAA was incorporated in 1993 as a non-share capital corporation pursuant to Part II of the 

Canada Corporations Act. As a corporation without share capital, the organization has Members 

rather than shareholders or other equity holders.

The GTAA is governed by a 15-Member Board. These Directors serve a term of three years and 

are eligible to be reappointed subject to a maximum of nine years. 

Five Directors are appointed from municipal candidates. Each of the Regional Municipalities 

of York, Halton, Peel and Durham and the City of Toronto is entitled to provide, on a rotating 

basis, the names of three candidates, and the Board appoints one of the three candidates for each 

available position as a Director.

In addition, in 2009 the Corporation amended its Bylaws such that seven Directors are appointed 

by the Board on a cyclical basis from a pool of eligible candidates generated by a search process 

which includes: the Law Society of Upper Canada, Professional Engineers Ontario, the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Ontario, the Toronto Board of Trade, the Board of Trade of the City of 

Mississauga and the Board of Trade of the City of Brampton. 

Finally, the Government of Canada and the Province of Ontario are entitled to appoint two Directors 

and one Director, respectively. All members of the GTAA’s Board are independent, as that term is 

defi ned in the applicable securities legislation.

The GTAA’s Board meets on a regular basis and views its principal responsibility as overseeing 

the conduct of the business of the GTAA and setting the strategic direction for the Corporation. 

The Board ensures that long-term goals and the strategies necessary to achieve them are established 

and are consistent with the GTAA’s vision.

The Board also ensures that the necessary systems are in place to manage the risks associated 

with the GTAA’s business and to monitor and measure management’s performance in carrying out 

the Corporation’s objectives.

During 2009 there were four standing committees of the Board: the Audit Committee, 

the Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee, the Environment, Health and 

Safety Committee, and the Planning and Development Committee. The mandates of each 

Committee of the Board are as follows:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s mandate is to fulfi ll the legal obligations that apply to audit committees 

and to assist the Board in fulfi lling its oversight responsibilities with respect to fi nancial reporting, 

accounting, auditing and internal controls. In so doing, the Committee reviews all aspects of 

the GTAA’s fi nancial and accounting management procedures and oversees the integrity of the 
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Corporation’s fi nancial statements and fi nancial reporting process. It also oversees the work of the 

Corporation’s external auditors engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditors’ report, 

overseeing the qualifi cations and independence of the external auditors and providing an open avenue 

of communication between the senior management of the Corporation, the external auditors, the 

internal auditors, and the members of the Board and Committees of the Board.

In addition, the Committee reviews the risk management and insurance programs to minimize 

risk and exposure and ensure compliance with the insurance requirements under the Ground Lease 

and the Trust Indenture. Finally, the Committee monitors and assesses the performance of pension 

fund asset managers. A written copy of the Charter of the Audit Committee is attached to the Cor-

poration’s Annual Information Form, which may be accessed at www.sedar.com.

Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee

The Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee is charged with the development, recom-

mendation to the Board, implementation and assessment of effective corporate governance principles. 

The Committee also is responsible for developing and reviewing the roles and responsibilities of 

the Board, the Chair of the Board and the President and Chief Executive Offi cer, overseeing the 

nomination process, recommending candidates for appointment as Directors, establishing an orien-

tation program for new Directors, reviewing the terms of reference of Board Committees, reviewing 

management succession policies, assessing the effectiveness of the Board and the Committees of the 

Board and ensuring compliance with corporate governance requirements. 

Environment, Health and Safety Committee

The Environment, Health and Safety Committee’s mandate includes the monitoring and evaluation 

of the GTAA’s policies, practices and activities with respect to the environment and health and 

safety, including employee occupational health and safety, public safety, emergency preparedness 

and security, to ensure that they meet or exceed legislative and regulatory requirements and indus-

try standards. The Committee also ensures that the GTAA has and maintains management systems 

to implement and monitor the effectiveness of such policies and procedures.

Planning and Development Committee

The Planning and Development Committee’s mandate is to ensure that the GTAA has appropriate 

facility development plans, including an accurate, up-to-date and approved master plan, and that 

the GTAA has in place the management systems necessary to deliver needed facilities effi ciently 

and economically.
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A Conversation
with the Chair
and the President

Smart thinking helped the GTAA to make 
the most of a challenging year. 

Our Chair, Marilynne Day-Linton, with our 
President and CEO, Lloyd McCoomb, 
discuss some of our successes this year.
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LM: I’ve frequently referred to 2009 as “The Year of the Contingency Plan”. It was one of the 

most diffi cult for our industry that I can remember, and we are fortunate to have been able to 

succeed and put plans in place that promise to dramatically improve our operations and the 

experience our customers enjoy.

This is entirely thanks to the strength of our management team and the dedication of our 

employees. Together, we dealt with the challenges of a global recession, which affected business 

travel and tourism. We were prepared to deal with the potential H1N1 pandemic which thankfully 

did not materialize.

We faced the possibility this year of potentially diffi cult collective bargaining. Not only were 

we successful in avoiding confrontation, both sides worked diligently to negotiate an extended 

labour settlement, with union and management being satisfi ed with the outcome.

In 2009, fi nancing was more challenging to obtain as a result of tighter credit markets. 

The GTAA was, however, able to refi nance its debt as it came due and arrange funding that 

keeps us on a sound fi nancial footing. 

MD-L: Diffi cult times often provide an opportunity to view situations in a new light, and our team 

took the time to review how we run our business. Quite simply, the world changed, and we needed 

to change along with it.

Signifi cantly, we recognize the need to change, shifting our focus from an organization that 

is a constructor and operator to a company that is more focused on our customers. We see that 

we must serve the passengers as well as help our airline customers succeed.

LM: It’s true that no company that is coming out of this recession is the same one that went in. 

The GTAA learned to work smarter. We took a hard look at all of our operations and developed 

ways to be more effi cient, more accountable and to create a workplace that is more rewarding for 

our employees.

We worked diligently with our airline customers to remodel the way we charge them for the 

facilities and services they need from us. The new pricing system will encourage airlines to make 

more effi cient use of our facilities, and therefore help save them money. In addition, through the 

hard work of our management and employees, the GTAA passed on further cost reductions to 

airlines for the third year in a row.
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MD-L: We have taken stock of who we are and who we will and should be. We are re-energized 

by the opportunity of what our company and airport can do to drive economic prosperity in our 

region. We have a new vision and mission for our airport, which will be rolled out and articulated 

throughout 2010 and will inform our new strategy and fi ve-year plan. We have essentially “pushed 

the reset button”, the power of which will be quite transformational, with a compelling action plan 

that will yield results in the years ahead.

The GTAA is cognizant of the link between air travel, greenhouse gases and global warming, 

and we are focused on ensuring that the GTAA is working on solutions, both short- and long-term. 

To this end, we’ve had success in improving our energy management program. We are working with 

the Toronto and Region Conservation Authority on Partners in Project Green, an ambitious partner-

ship to create an industrial eco-zone around the airport where 12,500 businesses work in concert 

to implement cost-saving and sustainable green business practices.

 

LM: Some of our solutions are more obvious to the passenger, such as the introduction of electric 

vehicles to our fl eet, while others are more subtle, such as the way we now schedule the sequence 

of planes on the runway to minimize the amount of time they sit idling. Furthermore, we continue 

to manage noise at the airport. The introduction of new, quieter and more effi cient aircraft has 

helped, and we remain committed to working with our neighbours on this issue.

MD-L: In the fall of 2009, the Bylaws of the GTAA were amended to refl ect a more proactive 

approach to Corporate Governance. The primary goal of this new approach is to allow the Board 

access to the best people to ensure that our Board has the right combination of expertise and 

experience to oversee the strategic course for our company. Consequently, we now have more 

fl exibility to seek out a wider variety of people to serve. 

In 2009 Catherine Knipe and Dale Richmond left the Board, each having served the Board 

for six years. Dale was appreciated for his ability to challenge the Board and management to be 

as fi scally responsible as possible, while Catherine was very involved in performance measurement 

and was integral in many of the new processes we now have in place.

Sadly, Stanley Archdekin passed away in the fall of 2009. He served on the Board for more 

than three years and his fi nancial expertise was invaluable in helping us to chart a course through 

this period of fi nancial uncertainty. Stan was a wonderful, warm gentleman who clearly cherished 

contributing to the community and being on our Board. We miss him.
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LM: While we thank all of our departing members for their years of dedication, we look forward 

to the opportunity to profi t from a strong and diverse Board. The Board’s relationship with 

management is a strong, healthy one that encourages open discussion, debate and cooperation. 

We expect this to continue over the coming years as our new Board members share their expertise.

MD-L: During diffi cult economic times, it is delightful to report that 2009 was a year of growth 

for charitable giving and community involvement at Toronto Pearson. Not only have our employees 

proven to be very generous with their donations and fundraising for the United Way, but our now 

annual Runway Run saw a substantial increase in participation in its second year.

LM: In the fi nal analysis, we believe in our hearts that what’s good for Toronto Pearson is good 

for Southern Ontario. We are a gateway to the region, and in turn, we see our role as contributing 

to making the region vibrant and successful. Through smart thinking and good choices, the GTAA 

has laid the foundation for a very strong future.
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Forward-Looking Information This Management’s Discussion and Analysis

(“MD&A”) contains certain forward-looking information. This forward-

looking information is based on a variety of assumptions and is subject

to risks and uncertainties. Please refer to the section titled “Caution

Regarding Forward-Looking Information” contained at the end of this

MD&A for a discussion of such risks and uncertainties and the material

factors and assumptions related to the forward-looking information.

This report discusses the financial and operating
results for the Greater Toronto Airports Authority
(“GTAA” or the “Corporation”) for the year ended
December 31, 2009, and should be read in
conjunction with the Financial Statements of the
GTAA for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
2008, and the Annual Information Form for the
year ended December 31, 2009. These documents
provide additional information on certain matters
which may or may not be discussed in this report.
Additional information relating to the GTAA,
including the Annual Information Form and the
Financial Statements referred to above, is available
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The GTAA’s Financial
Statements and MD&A are also available on its
website at www.gtaa.com.

For the Year Ended: 
December 31, 2009
Dated: March 10, 2010

Management’s 
Discussion & Analysis
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Corporate Profile

The GTAA was incorporated in March 1993 as a corporation without share capital, and recognized

as a Canadian Airport Authority by the federal government in November 1994. The GTAA is

authorized to operate airports within the south-central Ontario region, including the Greater Toronto

Area (“GTA”), on a commercial basis, to set fees for their use and to develop and improve the

facilities. In accordance with this mandate, the GTAA currently manages and operates Toronto

Pearson International Airport (the “Airport” or “Toronto Pearson”).

The responsibilities of the GTAA for the operation, management and development of Toronto

Pearson are set out in the ground lease with the federal government which was executed in

December 1996 (the “Ground Lease”). The Ground Lease has a term of 60 years, with one renewal

term of 20 years. The GTAA’s priorities are to operate a safe, secure and efficient Airport and to

ensure that the facilities provide the necessary services, amenities, and capacity for current and future

air travel requirements for the region.

Business Strategy

The GTAA is focused on providing quality aviation facilities and services for air carriers, passengers

and other users of Toronto Pearson, recognizing that the region’s demand for air travel is expected to

continue to grow. To meet this anticipated demand the GTAA undertook the Airport Development

Program (“ADP”), substantially completed in January 2007, as well as the redevelopment of

Terminal 3 and continues to plan for additional future development. 

Throughout 2009 the GTAA continued to implement its five-year (2007-2011) strategic plan. The

strategic plan focuses on three key themes: 
> Making Toronto Pearson more globally competitive;
> Enhancing the Airport’s role as a gateway; and
> Ensuring the long-term sustainability of the Corporation.

The GTAA is a non-share capital corporation and therefore has established a program to access the

debt capital markets on an ongoing basis to fund its various capital programs. The criteria, covenants

and restrictions for financing by the GTAA are set out in the master trust indenture (the “Trust

Indenture”) and are described in the section on Liquidity and Capital Resources. The Airport now has

sufficient capacity to meet projected air travel demands for several years and accordingly it is

anticipated that over the next several years any additional indebtedness will be used to fund

expenditures related to the repair and maintenance of existing facilities and smaller scale new capital

investments to improve operations at the Airport or to generate additional non-aeronautical revenue,

as described in the section on Capital Projects. In the near term there are no significant capital

expenditures planned as current capacity is sufficient to meet demand. However, as outlined in the

GTAA’s Airport Master Plan covering the 2008 to 2030 period, significant new capital expenditures

and financing activities will be required by the GTAA over the term of the plan to meet the anticipated

air travel needs of the region.
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Significant Events

A number of significant events transpired in 2009 which had an impact on the GTAA’s operations

or its financial results or which may affect future results. In addition to the events discussed in this

section, certain construction projects were completed which are discussed in the section on

Capital Projects. 

Effective January 1, 2009, the GTAA reduced landing fees and general terminal charges by 0.4%

and 0.6%, respectively when compared to the 2008 rates. Also effective January 1, 2009, the GTAA

reduced landing fees for cargo-only aircraft by 25% compared to landing fees for passenger aircraft.

On February 4, 2009 the GTAA repaid the $250.0 million Series 2004-2 Medium Term Notes

(“MTNs”) using a combination of cash and reserve funds.

On February 13, 2009, the GTAA announced a comprehensive four-point plan to mitigate the

effects of the anticipated decline in Airport activity in 2009 as a result of the economic downturn.

The plan included cost reduction measures, the postponement of certain capital projects, an increase

to the Airport Improvement Fee (“AIF”) and the implementation of an air service rebate program

that offers rebates on landing fees to air carriers who introduce new routes to the Airport or increase

their aircraft capacity on existing routes serving the Airport. The landing fee rebate allows for a

50% and a 25% reduction in landing fees in the first and second years, respectively, for certain new

air service at the Airport.

On May 20, 2009, the GTAA issued $300.0 million of Series 2009-1 MTNs. The Series 2009-1

MTNs carry a fixed rate coupon of 5.96% and mature on November 20, 2019. Proceeds of the

offering were used to fund capital expenditures and debt repayments and to fund required

reserve funds. 

Effective June 1, 2009, the GTAA increased the Airport Improvement Fee (“AIF”) for originating

passengers from $20.00 to $25.00. The AIF for connecting passengers remained unchanged at $8.00.

This increase was part of the four-point plan discussed above.

In July 2009, the GTAA and the CAW, which is the bargaining agent for GTAA unionized staff

(not including GTAA firefighters who are represented separately), agreed upon the terms of a

consolidated collective agreement and signed a Memorandum of Settlement which was ratified by the

CAW members. The term of the new consolidated collective agreement expires on July 31, 2013. 

On October 1, 2009, the GTAA announced reduced aeronautical fees for 2010. Effective

January 1, 2010, landing fees and general terminal charges were reduced by 10.0% and 10.2%,

respectively, from 2009 levels. 

On October 7, 2009, the GTAA re-opened the Series 2009-1 MTNs and increased the amount for

this series of notes by $300.0 million, bringing the aggregate amount outstanding under this series to

$600.0 million. The Series 2009-1 MTNs continue to carry a fixed rate coupon of 5.96% and mature

on November 20, 2019. The yield on this incremental issue was 4.672%. Proceeds of the offering
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have been and will be used to fund capital expenditures, debt repayments and to fund required

reserve funds.

On November 6, 2009, the GTAA successfully negotiated an extension to its $550.0 million

syndicated bank credit facility. The credit facility, which previously had a maturity date of

November 22, 2010, will now mature on November 22, 2012. 

On December 25, 2009, a passenger on a flight from Amsterdam to Detroit allegedly attempted to

detonate explosives which he had brought on board the aircraft concealed on his body. While the

attempt to bring down the aircraft was unsuccessful, it precipitated a number of changes to security

protocols for flights bound for destinations in the United States. This enhanced security has been

disruptive to Airport operations and has had a negative effect on transborder travel which can be

expected to continue into the future.

Effective January 1, 2010, the GTAA introduced an additional air service incentive program

which offers rebates on landing fees to air carriers who provide new air service from Toronto to select

unserved or underserved destinations, provided they achieve certain growth thresholds. The landing

fee rebate under this program allows for a 60% and 40% reduction in landing fees in the first and

second years of the new service respectively.

Operating Activity

The GTAA monitors passenger activity levels and aircraft movements, including the type and size of

aircraft, as both passenger and aircraft activity have a direct impact on financial results. 

Total passenger traffic at the Airport in 2009 was 30.4 million passengers, a decrease of 6.1%

from the 2008 level of 32.3 million passengers. Passenger traffic at the Airport is generally

categorized as belonging to one of three sectors: domestic, or passengers travelling within Canada;

transborder, or passengers travelling between Canada and the United States; and international, or

passengers travel ling between Canada and destinations outside of Canada and the United States.

Domestic passenger traffic in 2009 was 12.7 million passengers, a 7.8% decrease over 2008.

Transborder traffic was 8.1 million passengers, an 8.3% decrease from 2008, and international

passengers numbered 9.6 million, a 1.6% decrease over 2008. Total passengers in each sector for

2009 and 2008 respectively were:

(Passengers in millions)                                                                                                                            2009                         2008

Domestic                                                                                                                                       12.7                           13.8

Transborder                                                                                                                                     8.1                             8.8

International                                                                                                                                     9.6                             9.7

Total                                                                                                                                               30.4                           32.3
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While passenger activity fluctuates from year to year there is also some seasonal variation in travel

patterns including increased activity during the summer months and holiday periods. The following

graph illustrates the quarterly passenger levels (in thousands), by sector, for the past three years:

Flight activity is measured by aircraft movements. The type and size of aircraft using the Airport

determines the total maximum take-off weight (“MTOW”) and the total number of seats. These

measures are used to calculate airline charges for each flight. Total movements in 2009 decreased by

5.4%, from 430,588 in 2008 to 407,339. MTOW for 2009 was 12.9 million tonnes, as compared

to 13.7 million tonnes in 2008, a decrease of 5.9%. Total arrived seats decreased 5.2% from

21.0 million in 2008 to 19.9 million in 2009.

The decreases in Airport activity were primarily the result of the worldwide economic downturn

which started in 2008 and continued through 2009.

During the past several years airlines have been adjusting their fleet mixes and flight schedules in

order to improve their financial performance, resulting in airline load factors, or the ratio of

passengers to seats, steadily increasing. Reduced air travel demand in 2009 as a result of the slowing

economy has caused many airlines to reduce capacity through reduced schedules and changes in

aircraft type utilized on certain routes. This allowed airlines to maintain load factors but had a

negative effect on MTOW and arrived seats. It is expected that air carriers will continue to engage in

these capacity management techniques for the foreseeable future. The following graph illustrates the

arrived seats, MTOW and movements for the past three years, by quarter: 
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In November 2006, the Government of Canada announced its “Blue Sky” policy whereby the federal

government intends to proactively pursue opportunities to negotiate more liberalized agreements for

international scheduled air transportation. Since that time a number of agreements have been put into

place, including an agreement with the European Union signed in December 2009. This policy

initiative is expected to provide increased opportunities for passenger and cargo service to be added

at Toronto Pearson as market demand warrants, although some legacy agreements continue to restrict

open access to Toronto Pearson. In December 2009, China announced that Canada will be granted

Approved Destination Status which will promote an increased flow of tourists, students and business

travelers between the two countries. Toronto Pearson expects to benefit from this development if

flights are added between China and Toronto. 

The GTAA reviews and updates measures of Airport operating activity on an ongoing basis.

Changes to these measures, although generally not material, do occur. For the most current operating

activity statistics, please consult GTAA.com.

Results of Operations

The following section discusses the GTAA’s approach in setting its aeronautical rates and charges,

together with its financial results. In reviewing the financial results, it is important to note that the

GTAA is a non-share capital corporation. Accordingly, the GTAA’s financial model is based on

the premise that all funds, whether generated through revenue or debt, will be used for Airport

operations, ancillary aviation-related activities, construction, repairs and maintenance, debt payments,

reserve funds, and other activities within the GTAA’s mandate. 

Rate Setting Approach

The objective of the GTAA’s rate setting approach is to break even on a modified cash basis after

including the reserve and debt requirements as set out in the Trust Indenture. Aeronautical rates and

charges are set by the GTAA annually to cover the projected operating costs on a break-even cash
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basis for each year. To calculate the rates and charges for a given year, projections are developed for

measures of Airport operating activity such as passengers, MTOW and arrived seats, non-aeronautical

revenue and operating costs. Operating costs include debt service for those assets that are operational,

but do not include non-cash items such as amortization of capital assets. Capital costs, including

interest for projects under construction, are funded through debt and are not included in the

calculation of the aeronautical rates and charges. However, a notional amortization of debt, based on

a 30-year amortization period, which is not included in the operating results, is included in the rate

setting calculation.

The two components of the aeronautical rates and charges are the landing fee and the general

terminal charge. Landing fees are set as a rate per tonne of MTOW to cover the projected operating

costs associated with the airfield and groundside areas of the Airport, plus ground rent, payments-in-

lieu of real property taxes (“PILT”) and specific debt service costs, offset by the projected

non-aeronautical revenue and a specified amount of AIF revenue. Beginning January 1, 2009, cargo-

only flights are charged a landing fee equal to 75% of the fee charged to passenger flights, reflecting

the reduced use of facilities and resources by these flights. General terminal charges are set to cover

the operating costs for the common areas in the passenger terminals as a rate per landed seat,

regardless of whether the seat is occupied by a passenger. There is a premium on the general terminal

charge for non-domestic flights to cover the additional costs, such as security and providing space and

services to government inspection agencies, incurred by the GTAA in handling these flights. The

common areas include holdrooms, check-in counters, passenger processing areas and arrival halls, but

exclude space that is exclusively leased to airlines or other tenants.

In 2009 the GTAA, in consultation with the air carriers serving the Airport, developed two new

aeronautical fees. A new turnaround fee will be charged for the use of terminal facilities to gate

aircraft. The fee will be levied as a flat fee plus a rate per seat on arriving aircraft and will recover

operating and debt service costs associated with the post-security portion of the terminals and the

airside apron areas. The new check-in fee will be charged based on the usage of check-in counters in

the terminals and will recover the operating and debt service costs associated with the check-in areas

of the terminals. These new fees are expected to be implemented July 1, 2010.

These fees are designed to increase transparency in the pricing of services and facilities, offer

choice to air carriers as to the level of service they purchase, offer the opportunity for air carriers to

reduce their cost of operations through the operational choices they make, reduce airport operating

and capital costs and send pricing signals that will lead to a more efficient use of airport facilities. The

new fees will replace a portion of the existing landing fee and general terminal charge such that the

net effect will not be an increase in overall fees paid by the air carriers at the Airport.

Net Operating Results

The GTAA’s net operating results for the three years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, are

summarized in the following table:
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(in thousands)                                                                                                     2009                         2008                         2007

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Revenues                                                                                            1,115,227                 1,172,555                 1,162,858

Operating expenses                                                                             514,163                     555,238                     552,026

Revenues over expenses1                                                                     601,064                     617,317                     610,832

Interest and financing costs, net                                                         414,757                     452,501                     427,652

Amortization                                                                                         205,547                     210,730                     227,130

Revenues under expenses                                                                    (19,240)                     (45,914)                     (43,950)

Note 1: Revenues over expenses before interest and financing costs and amortization of property and equipment

Revenues over expenses before interest and financing costs and amortization decreased from

$617.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, to $601.1 million for the year ended

December 31, 2009. This decrease reflects a $57.3 million decrease in revenues driven by decreased

aeronautical and non-aeronautical revenues, partially offset by a $41.1 million decrease in operating

expenses. The revenue decrease was caused by the lower Airport activity in 2009 compared to 2008

due to the economic slowdown experienced over the period combined with lower aeronautical fees in

2009 as compared to 2008. Operating expense decreased due to a number of initiatives undertaken to

improve the efficiency of Airport operations and service delivery. Interest and financing costs were

$414.8 million for 2009 as compared to $452.5 million for 2008, reflecting a reduced provision for

the reduction in the estimated fair value of the restructured non-bank asset backed commercial paper

(“ABCP”) held by the Corporation and an increase in capitalized interest in 2009 as compared to

2008, partially offset by lower interest income earned on reserve funds due to lower interest rates in

2009 when compared to 2008. The above table demonstrates that for each year, the revenues

generated by the GTAA were more than sufficient to cover operating expenses and interest and

financing costs. 

The financial results reported by the GTAA include certain non-cash items, such as amortization

of property and equipment, which are not included in the calculation of the aeronautical rates and

charges. In accordance with its rate setting approach, the GTAA expects that revenues and reserve

funds will continue to be sufficient to cover operating expenses and interest and financing costs,

including notional principal. Consistent with many infrastructure developments, the GTAA’s net

revenues may not be sufficient to cover amortization of property and equipment for a period of

several years, which will result in total cash and non-cash expenses exceeding revenues.

Revenues

Revenues are derived from aeronautical charges (landing fees and general terminal charges), AIF, and

non-aeronautical sources such as car parking and ground transportation, concessions, rentals,

electricity sales and other sources. The primary drivers for revenue are aircraft movements and

passenger activity. Landing fees are based on the MTOW and general terminal charges are based on

the number of seats of an arriving aircraft. The AIF is charged per passenger and a significant portion
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of non-aeronautical revenues are highly correlated to passenger activity. The relationship between

these revenue sources and expenses was discussed in the section on Rate Setting Approach. The

following chart summarizes the GTAA’s revenues for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008

and 2007:

(in thousands)                                                                                                     2009                         2008                         2007

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Landing fees                                                                                         415,320                     447,062                     451,183

General terminal charges                                                                     170,801                     180,674                     185,027

Airport improvement fees, net                                                            262,331                     255,727                     257,495

Car parking and ground transportation                                             117,491                     126,450                     114,250

Concessions and rentals                                                                       131,861                     136,242                     127,346

Other                                                                                                       17,423                       26,400                       27,557

                                                                                                      1,115,227                 1,172,555                 1,162,858

Total aeronautical revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $586.1 million, as compared

to $627.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease reflects the lowering of

aeronautical rates in 2009 as compared to 2008 and the decrease in aeronautical activity between

the two years.

AIF revenue, which is net of the commission paid to the air carriers for the collection of the AIF,

increased from $255.7 million in 2008 to $262.3 million in 2009 as the increase in the AIF for

originating passengers implemented on June 1, 2009 offset the decline in passengers. 

Under the terms of the AIF agreements with the air carriers, the GTAA has committed that AIF

revenue will be used primarily for capital programs at Toronto Pearson, including associated debt

service (interest and principal) and reserve funds. Historically the GTAA has used AIF revenue to fund

debt service, but it retains the option of funding capital projects directly with AIF revenue. Recog -

nizing that capital expenditures or the payment of debt service and the receipt of AIF revenue may

not occur in the same period, AIF revenue earned and collected, but not used in any given period, is

invested in the AIF Reserve Fund for future capital or debt service payments. In 2009, $262.3 million

of AIF revenue was earned and $260.0 million was used for capital projects or debt service. This

compares to $255.7 million earned and $219.5 million used during 2008.

The GTAA also receives fees or rental payments from car parking and ground transportation,

concessions, space rental and other rental properties. In total, these categories generated

$249.4 million in revenue in 2009 as compared to $262.7 million in revenue in 2008. This decrease

is attributable to the lower passenger volumes, which result in lower demand for parking and

ground transportation services at the Airport.

Other revenues decreased $9.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to the

same period in 2008. Other revenues include revenues associated with the GTAA’s 117 megawatt
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Cogeneration Plant, consulting services and natural gas sales. The reduction in other revenues was

primarily due to reduced operations at the Cogeneration Plant. 

Operating Expenses

The GTAA’s operating expenses include the cost of operating and maintaining the Airport, together

with interest and financing costs, and the amortization of property and equipment. As noted

previously, the operating expenses that are reported in the financial statements are determined

according to Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and are not entirely consistent with

the expenses used in the calculation of aeronautical rates and charges. Specifically, amortization is not

recovered in the landing fee, while the principal component of debt service, which is not an operating

expense on the financial statements, is included in the landing fee calculation. 

The following chart summarizes the GTAA’s operating expenses for the years ended December 31,

2009, 2008 and 2007:

(in thousands)                                                                                                     2009                         2008                         2007

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Ground rent                                                                                           140,615                     140,622                     149,474

Goods and services                                                                              224,559                     282,188                     272,722

Salaries, wages and benefits                                                               123,948                     108,571                     107,139

Real property taxes and PILT                                                                 25,041                       23,857                       22,691

                                                                                                          514,163                     555,238                     552,026

Interest and financing costs, net                                                         414,757                     452,501                     427,652

Amortization of property and equipment                                           205,547                     210,730                     227,130

                                                                                                      1,134,467                 1,218,469                 1,206,808

The Ground Lease sets out the calculation of the annual ground rent payable by the GTAA to the

federal government. In 2008 and 2009 the ground rent payable was fixed at $141.5 million and

$138.7 million respectively. Thereafter, ground rent payable is calculated as a percentage of the

GTAA’s revenues. Prior to 2008, ground rent payable was calculated based on the number of

passengers using the Airport. Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, the ground

rent for each of 2008 and 2009 was recorded as the average of the fixed payments for the two

years: $140.1 million. Amortization of land acquisition costs is also included in ground rent

expense, resulting in total ground rent expense of $140.6 million in each of 2008 and 2009. In July

2003, the Minister of Transport announced a 24-month ground rent deferral program which had

the effect of reducing the ground rent paid by $10.0 million in 2003, $21.0 million in 2004 and

$10.5 million in 2005. The full ground rent expense was recorded for each period, with an offsetting

liability recorded on the balance sheet. However, from 2006 to 2015, as the deferred amount is

paid, the amount of ground rent actually paid to the federal government will be $4.2 million greater

than the amount recorded as an expense in the financial statements with the liability reduced
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accordingly. The deferred amount paid each year is included in the calculation of landing fees in

each year.

Goods and services, which comprise the general operating expenses for the Airport, were

$224.6 million and $282.2 million for 2009 and 2008, respectively. Areas where goods and services

expense decreased in 2009 include a reduction in computer equipment maintenance expense, reduced

building and equipment maintenance expense, reduced utilities consumption, reduced expense

associated with the logistics centre and the Airport Customer Assistance Program, reduced policing

and security expense and a reduction in bussing expense, all as a result of changes to contracts and

adjustments to service levels, and a gain on the valuation of a derivative contract with the Ontario

Power Authority related to the Cogeneration Plant. Also of note is a decrease in snow removal

expense due not only to less severe winter weather in 2009 but also to improved efficiencies in snow

removal operations. Offsetting these savings were increased expenses for consulting services as the

GTAA implemented a number of new initiatives designed to meet long-term strategic goals. 

The GTAA has both union and non-union employees and both groups are compensated with

salaries and benefits, including pension plans, medical and life insurance benefits and certain other

benefits. Salaries, wages and benefits increased from $108.6 million in 2008 to $123.9 million for

2009. The increase reflects salary increases for GTAA employees, a provision for expenses associated

with an early retirement program offered to certain employees and the restructuring of certain

departments at the GTAA and the recognition of employee benefits related to severance provisions

included in the GTAA’s collective bargaining agreement. 

The GTAA has an exemption from the payment of real property taxes under the Assessment Act

(Ontario), and instead pays to each of the cities of Toronto and Mississauga an amount prescribed by

regulation under the Assessment Act as PILT. The amounts due are based on passenger activity for a

specified prior year. PILT paid in 2008 was $23.9 million, based on passenger activity for 2005, and

PILT for 2009 was $25.0 million based on passenger activity in 2006. The downturn in passenger

activity in 2009 will be reflected in lower PILT payments in 2012.

The year-over-year decrease in interest and financing costs is the result of the reduced provision

taken with respect to the fair value of ABCP held by the GTAA and an increase in capitalized interest

in 2009 as compared to 2008, partially offset by lower interest income earned on reserve funds due to

lower interest rates in 2009 when compared to 2008. 

Amortization of property and equipment decreased in 2009 to $205.5 million from $210.7 million

in 2008. The GTAA uses the declining balance method to calculate depreciation of its most significant

assets. This methodology will result in declining amortization of property and equipment on a year-

over-year basis absent any significant changes in the asset base.
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Summary of Quarterly Results

Selected unaudited quarterly financial information for the period from January 1, 2008, through

December 31, 2009, is set out in the following table:

(in millions)                                                                   2009                                                                 2008

Quarter ended                               Dec         Sept         June           Mar           Dec           Sept          June           Mar

                                                            $               $               $               $                 $                 $                 $                 $

Revenues                                         273           297           273           272             274             316             294             289

Operating expenses                       146           116           119           133             142             131             130             152

Revenues over expenses1               127           181           154           139             132             185             164             137

Interest and financing, net             114           101             98           102             128             108             104             112

Amortization                                     54             50             51             50               55               52               52               52

Revenues over/(under) 
    expenses                                     (41)             30               5            (13)             (51)             25                 8             (27)

Note 1: Revenues over expenses before interest and financing costs and amortization

The GTAA’s quarterly results are influenced by passenger activity and aircraft movements which vary

with travel demand associated with holiday periods and other seasonal factors. In addition, factors

such as weather and economic conditions may affect operating activity, revenues and expenses.

Changes in operating facilities at the Airport may impact operating costs in many ways which may

result in quarterly results not being directly comparable. Due to these factors the historic quarterly

results cannot be relied upon to determine future trends. 

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the GTAA recorded a provision of $3.7 million related to the

reduced estimated fair value of the ABCP it holds. The GTAA also recorded a provision for expenses

associated with an early retirement program, the restructuring of certain GTAA departments and the

recognition of certain employee benefits totalling $10.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2009. There

were no other exceptional events during the fourth quarter of 2009 which had a significant impact on

traffic, revenues or operating expenses. 

Capital Projects

After the GTAA assumed responsibility for the Airport in 1996, it initiated an extensive redevelopment

program to improve and redevelop the facilities to meet current and future demand. The ADP included

the construction of terminal facilities, roadways, cargo facilities, airside improvements such as

runways and taxiways, ancillary services and utilities infrastructure. On January 30, 2007, with the

opening of Pier F at Terminal 1, the ADP was essentially completed. On that date all Terminal 2

operations were transferred to Terminal 1, and Terminal 2 was removed from the inventory of active

facilities at the Airport. The total cost of the ADP, which was completed on time and within budget,

was $4.4 billion.
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Continued long-term growth in passenger demand will necessitate further expansion of

Terminal 1. In order to facilitate this eventuality, the GTAA has developed a work plan, entitled the

Post ADP Program, which includes: the demolition of Terminal 2 and the Terminal 2 parking garage;

apron construction in the area that Terminal 2 once occupied; replacing the Terminal 2 parking

capacity and increasing the overall parking capacity at the Airport with the construction of a new

parking facility in Area 6B on the east side of Airport Road; replacement of certain utilities

infrastructure; and the preliminary design of Pier G at Terminal 1. The majority of this work was

completed in 2009 with the exception of the preliminary design of Pier G and the demolition of the

Terminal 2 parking garage which have been deferred until future requirements warrant this work.

The Post ADP Program has an authorized budget of $439.7 million of which $266.7 million has been

expended. The timing of the final design and construction of Pier G and other future Airport

expansion is under review, and will be dependent on demand. 

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the principal work carried out under the Post ADP Program

was the ongoing construction of the Area 6B parking facility, which opened on December 10, 2009. 

In addition, the GTAA has undertaken a program to expand and redevelop certain areas in

Terminal 3, including the baggage handling systems and passenger processing areas as well as other

improvements. The Terminal 3 Redevelopment Project has a budget of $355.3 million and is 97%

completed, and will be fully completed in 2010. 

In 2008 the GTAA approved another capital program to improve Terminal 3. This $85.0 million

project will see improvements to the food and beverage and other retail offerings in the terminal and

changes to passenger processing and security areas designed to improve passenger connections and

other passenger flows through the terminal. There were no material expenditures on this program in

2009. The majority of work under this program has been deferred and it is not expected to start until

such time as passenger volumes and other conditions warrant. 

The GTAA has an ongoing Maintenance and Restoration Capital Program for the Airport to

maintain, improve or replace assets. Projects carried out in 2009 include: 

In 2009, the GTAA commenced the construction of the Gate 193 commuter facility in Terminal 1.

When completed in mid-2010 at a capital cost of approximately $11.7 million, this facility will have

14 commuter aircraft positions serving the transborder sector, and will replace the existing Terminal 1

Satellite which will be decommissioned. The Gate 193 commuter facility will provide improved

service to passengers by eliminating bussing, and benefit air carriers by consolidating operations in

Terminal 1 and by eliminating bussing costs. During its construction, Gate 193 will not be available

for use. The Gate 193 commuter facility is intended to be a temporary facility to be removed when

Pier G is constructed.

Major airside improvements completed in 2009 included the ongoing restoration and upgrading

of airfield paved surfaces; upgrades to airfield lighting control and monitoring systems; and

improvements to the Etobicoke Creek flood plain.
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The following capital improvements to the GTAA’s buildings, including Terminals 1 and 3, were

completed in 2009: restoration, renovations, upgrades and modifications to all GTAA buildings and

their components including information technology support systems. Major building work completed

in 2009 included the Terminal 3 Fire Alarm System replacement; large scale re-roofing work at

Terminal 3 and the Terminal 3 Parking Structure; and reliability upgrades to the Administration

Building’s power system.

Groundside projects completed in 2009 consisted of major capital repairs; and restoration and

component replacements of roads, bridges, sidewalks, signage, parking lots, parking structures, area

lighting and utility distribution systems. The replacement of aging subsurface services in Area 8, some

of which were installed during World War II, will continue until 2012. 

During 2009, a total of $48.6 million was expended on the Maintenance and Restoration Capital

Program.

The GTAA has historically funded, and expects to continue to fund, capital projects through

borrowing in the debt capital markets.

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are set out below:

(in millions)                                                                                                         2009                         2008                         2007

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Total Assets                                                                                             7,667.5                     7,302.0                     7,256.3

Total Liabilities                                                                                       8,058.8                     7,700.9                     7,609.2

The increase in total assets between 2008 and 2009 reflects an increase in cash and cash equivalents

due to debt issues in 2009 to fund capital expenditures and to repay debt maturing in 2010 and an

increase in reserves and other funds due to ongoing collections of AIF and notional principal funds,

offset by a reduction in property and equipment due to their ongoing amortization. The increase in

total liabilities between 2008 and 2009 reflects the increase in debt mentioned above. The increase in

total assets between 2007 and 2008 reflects an increase in cash and cash equivalents and an increase

in work in progress offset by a reduction in reserve funds and property and equipment due to

ongoing amortization of capital assets. The increase in total liabilities between 2007 and 2008 reflects

an increase in debt to fund ongoing capital work. 

Cash and cash equivalents increased from $193.9 million in 2008 to $551.8 million in 2009 as a

result of the issuance of Series 2009-1 MTNs where some of the proceeds are being held for future

debt repayment and capital expenditures. Total reserves and other funds as at December 31, 2009

were $1.0 billion as compared to $898.1 million at December 31, 2008. These reserves represent

funds for regular payments of interest and principal, amounts set aside with the Trustee as security for

specific debt issues, funds set aside in accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture for operating
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and capital expenses and funds set aside by the GTAA for future principal payments and other

commitments such as the AIF Reserve Fund. 

The GTAA includes in its projection of cash flow for rate setting purposes the principal

amortization for each debt issue based on a 30-year amortization period for the debt, regardless of

the actual term of the respective issue. Consistent with the treatment of interest expense, principal is

only included in the landing fee calculation for the debt associated with operational assets. On a

quarterly basis, the GTAA funds the Notional Principal Fund with the estimated principal collected in

the previous quarter. The Notional Principal Fund will be applied to the ongoing amortizing

payments for Series 1999-1 revenue bonds or to repay any debt issue on maturity in whole or in part. 

For the AIF Reserve Fund, the GTAA accumulates AIF revenue as it is collected and uses the funds

primarily for ongoing debt service payments. During 2009, the GTAA collected AIF totalling

$262.3 million and used $260.0 million of AIF for debt service. During the year certain ABCP was

transferred from reserve funds mandated under the Trust Indenture to the AIF Reserve Fund in order

to ensure that all investments held by the Trustee in reserve funds on behalf of bondholders meet the

definition of qualified investments under the Trust Indenture. As a result the value of the AIF Reserve

Fund decreased to $106.5 million as at December 31, 2009 due to provisions taken against the

estimated fair value of the ABCP in the reserve fund. 

Certain ABCP was similarly transferred from reserve funds mandated under the Trust Indenture

for the benefit of bondholders into the Debt Service Coverage Fund, resulting in a reduction in the

balance of that fund in 2009.

The primary component of total liabilities is debt, which as at December 31, 2009, totalled

$7.9 billion of current and long-term debt obligations, as compared to $7.5 billion as at December 31,

2008. The increase represents funding for capital expenditures in 2009 and the pre-funding of 2010

capital expenditures and debt repayments, net of 2009 debt repayments made using the Notional

Principal Fund.

During 2009, the GTAA issued $600.0 million of new debt. The 2009 MTN issues are set out in

the following table:

(Principal in millions)

MTN Series Issue Date Maturity Date                          Principal             Coupon             Yield

2009-1 May 20, 2009 November 20, 2019                $300.0                 5.96%                 5.963%

2009-1 (re-opening) October 7, 2009 November 20, 2019                $300.0                 5.96%                 4.672%

One debt issue was repaid in 2009, being the $250.0 million Series 2004-2 MTNs.

The net deficiency reported on the balance sheet is a combination of the reserve funds which have

been funded through operating revenue and cumulative revenues over or under expenses. Annually,

revenues after operating expenses and interest and financing costs have not been sufficient to cover

amortization for several years. As a result the GTAA has recorded revenues under expenses. This has
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resulted in a cumulative net deficiency of $418.3 million as at December 31, 2009, as compared to a

net deficiency of $398.9 million as at December 31, 2008. The principal component included in the

aeronautical charges is based on a 30-year amortization and will therefore be lower in early years and

increase over time, similar to the principal payments of a mortgage. The amortization of the GTAA’s

most significant assets is reported on a declining balance basis, which is higher in the early years of

the asset life and decreases over time. This differential contributes to the GTAA’s current net

deficiency. It is anticipated that when the principal component in the landing fee increases to a level

where it is equal to or exceeds the reducing amount of amortization of assets, revenue will exceed all

expenses, including amortization, providing a potential improvement to the net asset position.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The GTAA is a non-share corporation and accordingly is funded through operating revenue,

AIF revenue, reserve funds, the debt capital markets and its syndicated bank credit facility. As noted

previously, aeronautical charges are set each year to cover the projected operating costs, including

debt service and reserve requirements, after consideration of the projected air traffic and passenger

activity and non-aeronautical revenues. Consistent with its residual approach, any funds generated by

the GTAA are used to cover costs within its mandate.

An overall Capital Markets Platform was established by the GTAA with the Trust Indenture

setting out the terms of all debt, including bank facilities, revenue bonds and MTNs. The program has

been used to fund all capital programs and the GTAA will continue to access the debt markets to

fund capital programs and to refinance some or all of its maturing debt. At December 31, 2009, there

was a total of $7.8 billion of outstanding debt issued under the Capital Markets Platform, excluding

the bank facility. Any proceeds received from debt issues and not immediately required are invested in

short-term investment grade debt instruments until they are required.

On February 13, 2008, the GTAA filed a shelf prospectus qualifying up to $2.0 billion of debt

issuance for capital expenditures, reserve funds, debt refinancing and other approved uses. The shelf

prospectus expires March 13, 2010. The GTAA intends to file a new shelf prospectus in March 2010

qualifying up to $1.5 billion of debt issuance for capital expenditures, reserve funds, debt refinancing

and other approved uses through the 25-month period covered by the shelf prospectus. 

The GTAA has a $500 million credit facility and a $50 million facility for interest rate and foreign

exchange hedging activities, both with the same banking syndicate. The GTAA has the option of

extending the facilities annually for an additional year with the lenders’ consent. These facilities had a

maturity date of November 22, 2010. In 2009 the credit facility was extended for two additional

years to November 22, 2012, as the GTAA had elected not to extend the facility in 2008 due to

prevailing market conditions at that time. The banking facility is used to fund capital or operating

expenses, as required, and provides flexibility on the timing for accessing the capital markets in the

future. This facility ranks pari passu with all other debt of the GTAA. As at December 31, 2009,
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$2.3 million was drawn on the $500 million facility by way of a letter of credit. No amounts were

utilized under the $50 million facility.

At December 31, 2009, the GTAA had reserve and other funds totalling $1.0 billion, which

include reserve funds held by the Trustee as required by the Trust Indenture and certain funds held by

the GTAA for specific or future requirements. AIF revenue collected and not used in any given year is

retained in the AIF Reserve Fund for future years. The Notional Principal Fund balance will increase

with the principal component collected in the landing fee until it is used for the repayment of debt.

The other reserve funds provide additional security for the debt program.

At December 31, 2009 the GTAA held $551.8 million of cash and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2009, the GTAA had a working capital deficiency of $600.7 million. As of that

date the GTAA had available $1.0 billion in reserves which are classified as long-term assets and

$497.7 million of credit available under its credit facility. The October 7, 2009 debt issue raised net

proceeds of $329.7 million which are intended to be used, in part, to repay debt maturing in 2010

which has been classified as a current liability on the December 31, 2009 balance sheet. The GTAA

believes that the reserve balances, available credit and cash balances provide sufficient liquidity to

mitigate any potential impact of the reported working capital deficiency. 

Principal payments for the next five fiscal years include the amortizing payments for MTN

Series 1999-1, and the maturity of MTN Series 2007-2, Series 2000-2, Series 2006-1, Series 2002-1,

Series 2002-2 and Series 2008-2. The GTAA has also entered into certain capital leases for equipment,

but the annual payments are not significant.

The table below analyses the GTAA’s financial liabilities by relevant maturity groupings based on

the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It does not include

pension and post-retirement liabilities as maturities are variable based on timing of individuals

leaving the plan. The table has been prepared based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows based

on the earliest date on which the GTAA can be required to pay. It includes both principal and interest

cash flows.

                                                                                            Less than         1 month to             1 year to                           
(in thousands)                                                                             1 month         12 months               5 years          Thereafter

                                                                                                        $                         $                         $                         $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                           47,203                 25,092                         –                         –

Province of Ontario                                                                       –                         –                 19,200                   4,800

Long-term debt                                                                     50,051           1,365,840           3,728,746           8,060,476

                                                                                                97,254           1,390,932           3,747,946           8,065,276

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities will be funded through operations while the Province of

Ontario and long-term debt obligations are expected to be funded through a combination of reserve

funds and debt.
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In connection with the operation and development of the Airport, the GTAA had capital

commitments outstanding at December 31, 2009 of approximately $113.4 million, primarily related

to construction contracts.

The objective of the GTAA’s investment and cash management strategy is to ensure that the cash

requirements for operations, capital programs and other demands are met and to maximize the

flexibility in accessing the capital markets as may be required. The GTAA monitors its cash flow

requirements accordingly. Given recent MTN issues, the credit facility, reserves and the projected

operating revenues and costs, the GTAA does not anticipate any funding shortfalls in the near term.

However, there may be events outside the control of the GTAA, including the impact of any

dislocation in the credit markets, which could negatively impact its liquidity by affecting the

availability and/or the cost of future borrowing.

Asset Backed Commercial Paper 

On January 21, 2009, the restructuring of the ABCP held by the GTAA was implemented. This ABCP

had been “frozen” since July 2007 as the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee for Third-Party Asset

Backed Commercial Paper negotiated a restructuring of these notes. The face value of the GTAA’s

original investment in the ABCP was $182.2 million. 

Under the restructuring the GTAA received $180.9 million of restructured notes as follows:
> $61.7 million Master Asset Vehicle (“MAV”) II Class A-1 Notes, rated “A” by DBRS with an

expected term to maturity of approximately eight years;
> $59.1 million MAV II Class A-2 Notes, rated “A” by DBRS with an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $10.7 million MAV II Class B Notes, which are unrated and have an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $4.1 million MAV II Class C Notes, which are unrated and have an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $2.1 million Traditional Asset (“TA”) Tracking Notes in one class which are unrated and have an

expected term to maturity of approximately five years; and
> $43.2 million Ineligible Asset (“IA”) Tracking Notes in eight classes which are unrated and have

expected terms to maturity from five to twenty-eight years.

The notes received have the following characteristics: 
> MAV Notes, issued in four classes (A-1, A-2, B and C), are long-term floating rate notes backed by

a combination of leveraged collateralized debt, synthetic assets and traditional securitized assets.
> TA Tracking Notes are long-term floating rate notes backed by traditional securitized assets; and
> IA Tracking Notes are long-term floating rate notes backed by traditional securitized assets with

exposure to the U.S. sub-prime mortgage market. 

The MAV II Class A-1 and A-2 Notes and the TA and IA Tracking Notes pay interest on a
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quarterly basis at variable interest rates to the extent there is available cash flow from the underlying

assets. The MAV II Class B and C Notes have not paid, and are not expected to pay, current interest;

instead interest will accrue and to the extent possible be paid after the MAV II Class A-1 and A-2

Notes are repaid. During 2009 the GTAA received $1.2 million in interest payments, excluding

interest accrued during the restructuring period.

On April 23, 2009, the $2.1 million TA Tracking Notes were redeemed. The GTAA received

$2.1 million in proceeds from the redemption. The TA Tracking Notes had an estimated fair value of

$1.6 million at the time of redemption. 

On May 20, 2009, the Class 2 IA Tracking Notes were cancelled with the GTAA receiving no

consideration or proceeds. The Class 2 IA Tracking Notes had a face value of $10.2 million and an

estimated fair value of $1.1 million at the time of cancellation. 

On August 11, 2009, DBRS downgraded the rating on the MAV II Class A-2 notes to “BBB”. This

rating was confirmed on February 11, 2010.

On October 28, 2009, the Class 14 IA Tracking Notes were cancelled with the GTAA receiving no

consideration or proceeds. The Class 14 IA Tracking Notes had a face value of $1.5 million and an

estimated fair value of $nil at the time of cancellation. 

As a result of the above noted redemption and cancellation of the TA and IA Tracking Notes

and other minor adjustments to the principal value of the remaining notes, the GTAA now holds

restructured ABCP with a face value of $166.8 million.

The GTAA estimated the fair value of its restructured ABCP holdings as at December 31, 2009 to

be $82.9 million, approximately 49.7% of the $166.8 million face value. 

The valuation technique used by the GTAA to estimate the fair value of its investment in

restructured ABCP at December 31, 2009, incorporates discounted cash flows derived considering the

best available public information regarding market conditions and other factors that a market

participant would consider for such investments. The assumptions used in determining the estimated

fair value reflect the details included in the information statements issued by the Committee, the asset

manager, the monitor for the restructuring and other public information and the risks associated with

each of the long-term floating rate notes. 

Assumptions regarding the interest rates and maturities of the various long-term floating rate

notes, discount rates and credit losses used in estimating the fair value include: 

                                              Class A-1               Class A-2                   Class B                  Class C                     IA Notes

Interest rate                              0.00%                     0.00%                     0.00%                     0.00%                           0.83%

Discount rate1                           6.51%                     8.75%                   15.00%                     0.00%       10.12% to 16.26%

Approximate term                 7 years                   7 years                 7 years                   7 years               4 to 27 years

Note 1: For Class B and C Notes the indicated rate is the fair value as a per cent of face value and not the discount rate.

The interest rate represents the current interest rate environment where short-term money market

instruments pay a very low rate of interest.
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Two benchmarks were utilized to determine the discount rates used in estimating the fair value of

the MAV II Class A-1 Notes as at December 31, 2009. One method used bankers’ acceptance rates

plus expected spreads for “A” rated financial institution debt with similar maturities. This benchmark

was allocated a weighting of 25% in determining the discount rate. The second benchmark, weighted

75%, used to determine the appropriate discount rate, utilized the spread or premium paid on the

CDX.NA.IG five-year index to determine the appropriate spread over seven-year government bond

rates. The CDX index was chosen in addition to the financial institution spread as it is an alternate

indicator of investment grade credit market conditions and provides a second measure of investor

sentiment in what continue to be uncertain markets. While the restructured notes are subject to credit

enhancements such as restructured and remote margin call provisions, a margin call moratorium,

cross-collateralization and a dedicated margin funding facility which support an investment grade

credit rating, an additional 200 basis points was added to the benchmark discount rate of the Class A-1

Notes to further reflect the uncertainties surrounding these specific instruments. The discount rate used

to estimate the fair value of MAV II Class A-2 Notes was derived using the Markit CDX North

America Crossover Index which is comprised of “BBB” and “BB” rated securities, reflecting the rating

on the MAV II Class A-2 Notes. An additional 200 basis points was added to the benchmark discount

rate of the Class A-2 Notes to further reflect the uncertainties surrounding these specific instruments.

The Class B Notes were valued on an equity basis at 15% of face value, indicative of their

subordination as to payment of both principal and interest under the restructuring. Previously these

notes had been valued at 45% of face value.

The Class C Notes have been assigned no value based on their subordination as to payment of

both principal and interest under the restructuring. Previously these notes had been valued at 10% of

face value.

The IA Tracking Notes were valued using a discount rate equivalent to the estimated current

market yield of “B” or “CCC” rated bonds, as appropriate for the individual class of notes, with a

term to maturity approximately equal to the term of the notes, reflecting the reduced credit quality of

these securities due to their exposure to the U.S. sub-prime mortgage market. 

An increase of 1% in the weighted average discount rate would reduce the estimated fair value of

the GTAA’s investment in the restructured ABCP by approximately $5.3 million.

The probability weighted discounted cash flows resulted in an estimated fair value of the GTAA’s

ABCP of $82.9 million as at December 31, 2009. This represents a decrease of $3.7 million when

compared to the September 30, 2009, estimated fair value and a decrease of $9.4 million when

compared to the December 31, 2008, estimated fair value. The change in value from September 30,

2009, can be primarily attributed to the reduction in value of the Class B and Class C Notes from 45%

and 10% of fair value to 15% and 0% of face value, respectively. This was partially offset by increases

in valuation of the remaining classes of notes due to the use of lower discount rates in the valuation

model, reflecting improved credit market conditions over the period. The decrease in the estimated fair
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value, as compared to the December 31, 2008 valuation, is comprised of a combination of the cash

receipts in respect of interest and principal distributions of $9.8 million offset by a $0.4 million

provision for the deterioration in the estimated fair value of the holdings as at December 31, 2009.

Continuing uncertainties regarding the value of the assets which underlie the restructured notes

and the amount and timing of cash flows could give rise to further material change in the fair value of

the GTAA’s investment in the restructured ABCP.

The GTAA has sufficient cash and other sources of liquidity available to meet its reserve

requirements and to fund its operating, capital and financing obligations, and does not expect that its

operations will be materially affected by the current uncertainty over the carrying value of its

restructured ABCP investments.

The restructured ABCP held by the GTAA does not meet the definition of a qualified investment

under the terms of the Trust Indenture and as a result the GTAA is not in compliance with the

requirement in the Trust Indenture that all money held in any account, fund or reserve fund

established under the Trust Indenture be held in cash or invested in qualified investments. The GTAA is

of the view that the non-compliance is not of a nature which would give rise to an event of default for

purposes of the Trust Indenture, which requires, among other things, that any non-compliance must

materially adversely affect bondholders. As of the date of this report, no event of default has occurred.

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates

The significant accounting policies adopted by the GTAA are set out in Notes 4 and 5 of the Financial

Statements as at December 31, 2009 and 2008. In preparing the financial statements, management is

required to make certain estimates or assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and

liabilities and the disclosure of commitments and contingencies at the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could

differ from estimates.

The value of the ABCP held by the GTAA as at December 31, 2009, has been estimated using the

methodology discussed in the section entitled Asset Backed Commercial Paper. As no reliable market

currently exists for these securities this valuation estimate is subject to uncertainty and may change at

subsequent reporting dates.

Property and equipment for the Airport include items such as improvements to leased land,

runways, terminal and other buildings, and roadways. These assets are recorded at cost and

amortized over the useful life of the asset. Amortization of assets commences when the asset is

brought into operation, and for certain assets, such as the terminal buildings, the asset may be

brought into or removed from operations in stages. 

The timing for revenue recognition depends on the nature of the revenue and the specific

agreements in place. Landing fees, general terminal charges and car parking revenues are recognized

as the airport facilities are utilized. Airport Improvement Fees, net of airline administration fees, are
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accrued upon the enplanement of the passenger. AIF revenues are based on passenger activity as

reported by individual air carriers and may be subject to later adjustment. Concessions revenue is

charged on a monthly basis and is recognized based on a percentage of sales or specified minimum

rent guarantees. Ground transportation revenue is recognized based on a combination of the duration

of the term of the licences and permits and utilization fees. Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-

line basis over the duration of the respective agreements. Revenue derived from the Cogeneration

Plant, included in other revenue, is recognized as electricity is delivered to customers. 

The GTAA maintains both defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans

for its employees. The pension costs of the defined benefit plans are actuarially determined using the

projected benefit method prorated on service and best estimate assumptions. For the purpose of

calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. The costs of the

defined benefit plans are recognized as the benefits are earned through employee service. The costs of

the defined contribution pension plans are expensed as the GTAA becomes obligated to contribute to

the defined contribution plans. The assumptions used to estimate the pension plan assets and

liabilities are further discussed in Note 16 of the Financial Statements of the GTAA for the years

ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

The Accounting Standards Board has set the transition date for IFRS to be January 1, 2011. The

transition will require the restatement for comparative purposes, of amounts reported by the GTAA

for its year ended December 31, 2010, and of the opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010. The

GTAA intends to adopt IFRS effective January 1, 2011. 

The GTAA has prepared a formal conversion plan to implement IFRS which consists of three

phases: scoping and diagnostic, analysis and development, and implementation and review.

The first two phases focused on identification of the IFRS standards that would impact the GTAA,

contemplated the determination of accounting policies, documented position papers on each

standard, and identified required changes to accounting and reporting processes, IT systems, internal

controls and other business processes. At December 31, 2009, the GTAA had substantially completed

the first two phases of the project.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the GTAA made significant progress on the third phase of the

project which is directed towards implementation and review. This phase involves finalization of

accounting policies, implementation of changes to the accounting and reporting systems, information

systems and internal controls which will enable compliance with the dual reporting requirements of

historical periods which begin in fiscal 2011. The project work has identified that the most significant

financial impact of the transition to IFRS on the future financial results will be in respect of the

treatment of property and equipment. This category is impacted by the need to expand asset

componentization, segregate intangible assets as defined by new standards and to make changes to the
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method of calculating capitalized interest on work in progress. The GTAA does not expect IFRIC

Interpretation 12, Service Concession Arrangements, to have an impact on the Corporation. Manage -

ment is executing on implementation plans which include setting up systems and preparing financial

data which will allow the Corporation to report IFRS compliant financial statements for 2011 and also

ensure that 2010 comparative data is collected. Formal review of work completed has been carried out

by both management and independent consultants to ensure compliance with IFRS standards.

Several IFRS standards are in the process of being amended by the International Accounting

Standards Board (“IASB”). Amendments to existing standards are expected to continue until the

transition date of January 1, 2011. The GTAA monitors the IASB’s announcements on an ongoing

basis, giving consideration to any proposed changes, where applicable, in its assessment of differences

between IFRS and GAAP. However, since all potential changes to IFRS that will be effective as at

December 31, 2011, are not yet known, any conclusions drawn at this time must be considered

preliminary. As a result, at this time, the GTAA cannot reasonably determine the full impact that

adopting IFRS may have on its financial and future results. 

Regular reporting on the plan status will be provided to the Audit Committee of the Board of

Directors of GTAA as appropriate. To assist with this conversion and new disclosure requirements, an

external expert advisor has been engaged.

The GTAA anticipates a significant increase in disclosure resulting from the adoption of IFRS and

is continuing to assess the level of disclosure required and any necessary system changes to gather and

process the information. 

The GTAA will continue to execute its conversion plan and closely monitor pronouncements by

the IASB that could impact financial reporting in anticipation of the 2011 changeover. 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

The Clean Energy Supply contract with the Ontario Power Authority associated with the

Cogeneration Plant contains an embedded derivative and is valued each reporting period. All financial

instruments are recognized on the balance sheet and measured at fair value at initial inception. The

GTAA has designated its reserve funds as held-for-trading and its cash balances as available-for-sale.

On December 31, 2009, the GTAA fair-valued all available-for-sale securities. Unrealized gains and

losses on financial instruments designated as held-for-trading will be recognized in the statement of

operations. Unrealized gains and losses on financial instruments designated as available-for-sale will

be recognized in unrealized changes in net assets. As at the date of this report the GTAA is not party

to any active hedges.

Reserve and other funds, other investments and security deposits are reflected in the financial

statements at values which approximate fair values because of the short-term nature of these

instruments, except for ABCP which is fair-valued using the valuation technique discussed in the

section entitled Asset Backed Commercial Paper.
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Internal Controls and Procedures

GTAA management is responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures to ensure that information required to be disclosed to satisfy the GTAA’s continuous

disclosure obligations is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as required by applicable

Canadian securities legislation. Management has carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness as of

December 31, 2009, of the design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures, as defined

in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings,

under the supervision of, and with the participation of, the President and Chief Executive Officer

(“CEO”), and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Based on this evaluation, the

CEO and CFO concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording,

processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the

GTAA to satisfy its continuous disclosure obligations and are effective in ensuring that information

required to be disclosed in the reports that the GTAA files is accumulated and communicated to

management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Board of

Directors has reviewed and approved the GTAA’s Policy Regarding Corporate Disclosure Controls

and Procedures. Management has determined that as at December 31, 2009, the design and operation

of the disclosure controls and procedures continue to be effective. 

GTAA management is responsible for designing and implementing internal controls over financial

reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Corporation’s reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian generally

accepted accounting principles. As required under National Instrument 52-109, the GTAA, under the

supervision and with the participation of the CEO and the CFO, has carried out an evaluation of the

effectiveness as at December 31, 2009, of its internal controls over financial reporting. Based on this

evaluation, the GTAA’s CEO and CFO concluded that the Corporation maintained effective internal

control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2009. While no material weaknesses with respect

to internal controls over financial reporting were identified during the assessment, such assessment

may not detect all weaknesses nor prevent or detect all misstatements because of inherent limitations.

Additionally, projections of any assessment of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate due to changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of

compliance with the Corporation’s policies and procedures. There were no changes in the GTAA’s

internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2009,

that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over

financial reporting.
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Risks and Uncertainties

The GTAA experienced a decline in total passenger volumes in 2009 as compared to 2008. The risk

of sudden and possibly significant impacts or volatility in air travel demand due to external sources

such as economic conditions, geopolitical unrest, terrorism, government regulation, world health

epidemics and the financial uncertainty in the aviation industry exists. Any of these could impact the

GTAA’s financial results. While the economic slowdown experienced in 2008 and 2009 appears to

have moderated, due to continued uncertainty regarding the economic recovery the GTAA anticipates

that passenger demand and aeronautical activity will increase only modestly in 2010 when compared

to 2009 levels. The GTAA has prepared its 2010 budget and plans based on a modest recovery in

passenger traffic and aeronautical activity. 

In 2003, Toronto experienced an outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (“SARS”)

which significantly impacted aviation activity at the Airport. The outbreak of influenza A (H1N1) in

2009, while global in nature, had a much smaller impact on the Airport. Depending on the location,

timing, and extent of an outbreak of a highly contagious illness such as SARS or H1N1 influenza,

there could be significant impacts on regional or world travel. The GTAA has worked with Health

Canada to understand the risks of such an event, and has developed operational contingency plans

based on various scenarios. 

On August 2, 2005, Air France Flight 358 overshot Runway 24L-06R on landing. There were no

fatalities, but some injuries were reported. This event demonstrates that there are always operational

risks associated with an airport. The GTAA mitigates these risks through strict compliance with safety

requirements and regulations and emergency response procedures.

The attempted terrorist action on December 25, 2009, involving a Northwest Airlines flight

bound for Detroit highlights the fact that the air travel industry continues to be a target for terrorism.

Actual or perceived threats to the safety and security of air travel may affect travel demand. Changes

in government regulations regarding security may also impact Airport operations and travel demand.

The financial stability of the aviation industry remains a risk for the GTAA, particularly with

respect to domestic air carriers. To date the GTAA has not experienced any losses directly due to

foreign air carriers filing for bankruptcy protection. However, the GTAA has incurred losses due to

Canadian airlines seeking creditor protection or declaring bankruptcy. There is some risk to aviation

activity and revenues from industry changes or exposure to a dominant air carrier. This risk is

increased during periods of economic uncertainty. However, this risk is mitigated by the fact that

approximately 75% of the passenger activity at the Airport originates or terminates at Toronto

Pearson. Effective June 1, 2009 the GTAA implemented enhanced credit and collection policies to

further mitigate against this risk. 

Air carriers frequently modify their routes and fleet mixes in response to changes in demand and

technology. During the economic slowdown experienced in 2008 and 2009 airlines responded in a

number of ways to reduce their aircraft and seat capacity. In some cases, less profitable routes were
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cancelled or reduced in frequency. Some air carriers have allocated smaller aircraft to lower volume

North American routes while at the same time some air carriers have been substituting larger aircraft

on high volume and long haul international routes and adjusting their frequencies to ensure high load

factors. Such changes in the fleet mix and air service patterns can impact the GTAA’s planning of

facilities and traffic for projecting future landing fees and general terminal charges. The GTAA uses

projected revenues, expenses, MTOW and arrived seats to calculate the landing fee per tonne and the

general terminal charge per seat. The risks inherent in this approach are that expenses may be

underestimated or non-aeronautical revenues overestimated, resulting in inadequate aeronautical

revenue for the GTAA to break even on a modified cash basis or to meet its debt covenants.

Aeronautical revenue may also be lower than expected if there is a reduction in the number of

movements or the size of aircraft as compared to projections. 

While the ADP was substantially completed with the opening of Pier F in January 2007, the

GTAA continues to undertake capital projects as required to maintain the Airport and meet air travel

demand. Capital projects are subject to risks relating to events which could impact costs, schedules

and project delivery. 

There is always risk when raising funds in the capital markets, including risks relating to

fluctuations in interest rates, and the availability of funds at any point in time. External factors such

as economic conditions, government policies, catastrophic events and the state of the financial

markets can impact the GTAA’s ability to access the capital markets. While the GTAA debt program

has historically been well received by the capital markets in Canada, any dislocation in the global

capital markets could affect the GTAA’s ability to meet its financing requirements. The GTAA

monitors the overall debt markets and works with its financial advisors to select the timing, size and

term of any debt issue to ensure continued access to the markets and to maximize opportunities. The

GTAA also monitors its debt maturity profile to minimize refinancing risk in the future.

As part of the Corporation’s debt program, the Trust Indenture sets out certain covenants that the

GTAA must meet, including two specific coverage tests for operating expenses and debt service

payments. If revenue or expenses are substantially different than projected, there is a risk of not

meeting the coverage tests. The operating covenant states that the total revenue must at least cover all

operating expenses, including interest and financing costs. The debt service covenant states that the

net revenues, which may include available credit, must be at least 1.25 times the total interest and

financing costs, including notional principal. In meeting these tests, the AIF revenue included is the

amount transferred from the AIF Reserve Fund, and may not be the same as the AIF earned. If the

debt service covenant test is not met in any year, the GTAA is not in default of its obligations under

the Trust Indenture so long as the test is met in the subsequent year.

The GTAA and many of its suppliers and airline customers employ unionized staff. Where the risk

of a strike or lockout exists, the GTAA has developed labour contingency plans to maintain the

operation of the Airport. However, any such labour disruption could be expected to have a negative

impact on operations and financial results. 
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Due to the nature of its operations and the magnitude of the ADP and other capital projects,

the GTAA is exposed to litigation risk from time to time. The GTAA manages its litigation risk

primarily through its Corporate Risk and Legal Services Departments, its claims settlement processes

and insurance.

The litigation where GTAA is a defendant falls into three categories: those covered by insurance,

construction claims and other litigation. Litigation covered by insurance includes personal injury and

property damage claims, including the lawsuits arising from the Air France accident of August 2,

2005, where the GTAA’s financial exposure is limited to its insurance deductible.

Subsequent to the Air France incident on August 2, 2005, the GTAA, together with other parties,

is a defendant in ten lawsuits, including a class action lawsuit involving most passengers and their

family members. In May 2009, the defendant Air France, Airbus, the GTAA and BF Goodrich reached

a settlement with the plaintiffs in six of the lawsuits including the class action lawsuit and the

settlement was presented to the court for approval. In December 2009, the court approved the

portion of the settlement relating to Air France, Airbus and BF Goodrich and is anticipated to

approve the portion of the settlement involving the GTAA shortly. If the court approves the portion

of the settlement involving the GTAA, there will be four lawsuits remaining that involve the GTAA.

The GTAA’s insurers are defending the GTAA in all of these lawsuits. It is the opinion of management

that the GTAA’s financial exposure is limited to its insurance deductible. The Transportation Safety

Board released its accident investigation report on December 12, 2007, which made a number of

recommendations directed to Transport Canada, the Direction Générale de l’Aviation Civile of France

and other civil aviation authorities. No recommendations were directed to the GTAA.

The GTAA is defending four construction claims in various stages of litigation or settlement

discussions.

Other litigation includes an application by the City of Mississauga (“Mississauga”) to review a

decision by Public Works and Government Services Canada which determined that the GTAA was

required to pay Mississauga $841,360 in payments in lieu of development charges regarding Airport

development undertaken by the GTAA between 1996 and 2004. Mississauga seeks additional

payments in lieu of development charges of $26 million. 

Where appropriate, the GTAA has recorded provisions or reserves while it actively pursues its

position with respect to litigation. Where it is the opinion of management that the ultimate outcome

of these matters will not have a material effect upon the GTAA’s financial position, results of

operations, or cash flows, no reserves have been recorded.

The availability of adequate insurance coverage is subject to the conditions of the overall

insurance markets and the GTAA’s claims and performance record. The GTAA has continued to be

successful in placing all of its insurance needs.
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Conclusion

While 2009 saw a decline in Airport activity, the GTAA was able to anticipate the effects and enacted

a plan which included cost reduction measures, the postponement of certain capital projects, an

increase to the Airport Improvement Fee and the implementation of an air service rebate program

that offers rebates on landing fees to air carriers who introduce new routes to the Airport or increase

their aircraft capacity on existing routes serving the Airport. As a result the GTAA was able to exceed

its financial objectives in 2009. Continued development of the GTAA strategic plan, as evidenced by

the new vision and mission statements, is intended to further develop revenue opportunities,

operating efficiencies and an enhanced customer focus. 

The GTAA is at a point in its development where the Airport has sufficient capacity to meet

passenger demand for several years. As a result, the demand for new capital development funds is

greatly reduced from the period when the ADP was being implemented. This pause in the

redevelopment of the Airport, together with the management focus expressed in the strategic plan,

position the GTAA well to continue to meet the developing air travel needs of the south-central

Ontario region. 

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information about the GTAA. This forward-looking

information is based on a variety of assumptions and is subject to risks and uncertainties. There is

significant risk that predictions, forecasts, conclusions and projections, which constitute forward-

looking information, will not prove to be accurate, that the assumptions may not be correct and that

actual results may vary from the forward-looking information. The GTAA cautions readers of this

MD&A not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking information as a number of factors could

cause actual results, conditions, actions or events to differ materially from the targets, expectations,

estimates or intentions expressed in the forward-looking information.

Words such as “believe”, “expect”, “plan”, “intend”, “estimate” “anticipate” and similar

expressions, as well as future or conditional verbs such as “will”, “should” “would” and “could”

often identify forward-looking information. Specific forward-looking information in this MD&A

includes, among others, statements regarding: future demand for air travel in the GTA; budgets and

expenditures relating to capital programs; future terminal, airside, infield and other capital

developments at the Airport; the relationship between the GTAA’s revenues and reserve funds and its

operating expenses and interest and financing costs; non-aeronautical revenues; airline load factors

and fleet mix; the commencement of operations of facilities currently under construction at the

Airport; insurance and other recoveries; the impact of the “Open Skies”, “Blue Skies” and other

bilateral air transport and other agreements and initiatives on transborder and international

passenger activity; the impact of enhanced security screening and the requirement that all persons

entering the United States possess a valid passport or government-approved identity card on
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transborder passenger activity; the opening of the new fuel tank facility; a strike or lockout of GTAA

unionized employees; the GTAA’s capital borrowing requirements and its ability to access the capital

markets; future passenger projections; the impact of incentive programs and reductions in

aeronautical rates; the implementation of new aeronautical fees; future cash flows; the valuation

relating to ABCP restructured notes; the disposition by the GTAA of any ABCP restructured notes;

the payment of accrued interest on the notes; the GTAA’s need to recognize additional impairments in

respect of its ABCP holdings in future financial statements; the effect of the current uncertainty

regarding the GTAA’s ABCP investments on its liquidity and operations; and the impact of the

transition of IFRS.

The forward-looking information is based on a variety of material factors and assumptions

including, but not limited to: long-term growth in population, employment and personal income will

provide the basis for increased aviation demand in the GTA; the Canadian, U.S. and global economies

will slowdown, recover and grow at expected levels; air carrier capacity will meet the demand for air

travel in the GTA; the growth and sustainability of low cost and other air carriers will contribute

to aviation demand in the GTA; the GTA will continue to attract domestic, transborder and

international travellers; the commercial aviation industry will not be directly affected by terrorism or

the threat of terrorism; the cost of enhancing aviation security will not overly burden air carriers,

passengers, shippers or the GTAA; no significant event will occur that impacts the ordinary course of

business such as a natural disaster or other calamity; the GTAA will be able to access the capital

markets at competitive terms and rates; and there are no significant cost overruns or delays relating to

capital programs. These assumptions are based on information currently available to the GTAA,

including information obtained by the GTAA from third-party experts and analysts.

Risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or

implied by forward-looking information include, among other things: a prolonged period of slowing

economic activity; high rates of unemployment; levels of aviation activity; air carrier instability;

aviation liability insurance; construction risk; geopolitical unrest; terrorist attacks and the threat of

terrorist attacks; war; health epidemics; labour disputes; capital market conditions; changes in laws;

adverse amendments to the Ground Lease; competition from other airports, telecommunications and

ground transportation; the availability and cost of jet fuel; carbon emission costs and restrictions;

adverse regulatory developments or proceedings; environmental issues; lawsuits; and other risks

detailed from time to time in the GTAA’s publicly filed disclosure documents.

The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A represents expectations as of the date

of this report and is subject to change. Except as required by applicable law, the GTAA disclaims any

intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking information whether as a result of

new information, future events or for any other reason.
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Management’s 
Responsibility for 
Financial Reporting

The financial statements of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority have been prepared by management

and approved by the Board of Directors and the Members of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority.

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the information contained in these

financial statements and other sections of this Annual Report. The Greater Toronto Airports Authority

maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies and procedures which provide management

with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that financial records are reliable and form

a proper basis for the preparation of financial statements.

The Greater Toronto Airports Authority’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have

been appointed by the members of the Corporation to express their professional opinion on the fairness

of these financial statements.

The Board of Directors ensures that management fulfills their responsibilities for financial reporting

and internal controls through an Audit Committee, which is composed of four directors. This Committee

reviews the financial statements and reports to the Board of Directors. The auditors have full and direct

access to the Audit Committee.

President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

March 10, 2010
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Auditors’ 
Report

To the Board of Directors of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority

We have audited the balance sheets of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority as at December 31,

2009 and 2008 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets (deficiency) and cash flows for

the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Greater Toronto Airports

Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results

of its operations, changes in its net assets (deficiency) and its cash flows for the years then ended in

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Ontario

March 10, 2010
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Balance Sheets

As at December 31 (in thousands)                                                                                                      2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                              $                               $

Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                               551,803                   193,911

Accounts receivable (Note 8)                                                                                               40,081                     45,677

Prepaid expenses                                                                                                                  3,677                       3,430

Inventory                                                                                                                                8,502                       8,843 

                                                                                                                                          604,063                   251,861

Reserve and other funds (Note 6)                                                                                   1,000,391                   898,096

Other investments (Note 7)                                                                                                             –                     27,040

Other assets (Note 10)                                                                                                            69,937                     70,387

Property and equipment (Note 11)                                                                                 5,812,196               5,690,769

Work in progress (Note 12)                                                                                                   152,851                   340,411

Accrued benefit asset (Note 16)                                                                                           28,086                     23,395

                                                                                                                                        7,667,524               7,301,959

Liabilities

Current

Bank indebtedness                                                                                                                       –                       1,036

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                                         72,295                     84,584

Security deposits and deferred credits                                                                             66,132                     36,374

Current portion of deferred ground rent (Note 3)                                                                 4,156                       4,156

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 13)                                                                  1,062,172                   362,993 

                                                                                                                                        1,204,755                   489,143

Deferred credit and other liabilities (Note 10)                                                                      41,917                     37,619

Deferred ground rent (Note 3)                                                                                               20,782                     24,938

Long-term debt (Note 13)                                                                                                 6,818,378                 7,149,180

                                                                                                                                        8,085,832                 7,700,880

Net Assets (Deficiency) (Note 22)

Externally restricted                                                                                                          79,279                     72,579

Internally restricted                                                                                                          330,057                   261,932

Unrestricted                                                                                                                     (827,644)                 (733,432)

                                                                                                                                        (418,308)                 (398,921)

                                                                                                                                        7,667,524               7,301,959 

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 19 and 20)

Signed on behalf of the Board

Marilynne E. Day-Linton, Director                                                   Lawrence D. Worrall, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Years ended December 31 (in thousands)                                                                                         2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                              $                               $

Revenues

Landing fees                                                                                                                      415,320                   447,062

General terminal charges                                                                                                 170,801                   180,674

Airport improvement fees, net (Note 9)                                                                             262,331                   255,727

Car parking and ground transportation                                                                         117,491                   126,450

Concessions                                                                                                                       79,326                     80,187

Rentals                                                                                                                                 52,535                     56,055

Other                                                                                                                                    17,423                     26,400

                                                                                                                                      1,115,227               1,172,555

Operating Expenses

Ground rent (Note 3)                                                                                                            140,615                   140,622

Goods and services                                                                                                           224,559                   282,188

Salaries, wages and benefits                                                                                           123,948                   108,571

Real property taxes and payments-in-lieu of real property taxes (Note 17)                       25,041                     23,857

                                                                                                                                          514,163                   555,238

Revenues over expenses before interest and financing costs, net of amortization         601,064                   617,317

Interest and financing costs, net (Notes 6 and 15)                                                                      414,757                   452,501

Amortization of property and equipment                                                                            205,547                   210,730

Revenues under expenses                                                                                                      (19,240)                     (45,914)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Net Assets (Deficiency)

2009
                                                            Balance,    Unrealized     Revenues     Transfers/                             Balance,

                                                      Beginning,   Changes in           Under   Allocations           Use of           End of
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)             of Year   Net Assets      Expenses     and Other           Funds               Year

                                                                    $                  $                  $                  $                  $                  $

Externally restricted

Operating and maintenance 
reserve                                                  50,299                  –                  –        12,626                  –        62,925

Renewal and replacement reserve             3,000                  –                  –                  –                  –          3,000

Debt service fund – principal                   19,280                  –                  –          4,881       (10,807)       13,354 

                                                              72,579                  –                  –        17,507       (10,807)       79,279

Internally restricted

Airport improvement fees 
collected, net                                      142,112                  –                  –      224,346     (260,000)     106,458 

Notional principal of long-term 
debt                                                                 –                  –                  –      130,175                  –      130,175 

Debt service coverage 
requirement                                         119,820                  –                  –       (26,396)                 –        93,424

                                                            261,932                  –                  –      328,125     (260,000)     330,057

Total Restricted net assets                           334,511                  –                  –      345,632     (270,807)     409,336

Unrestricted

Unrestricted net deficiency                  (735,994)                 –       (19,240)      (74,825)                 –     (830,059)

Accumulated unrealized changes 
in net assets:

Loss on hedge                                       (7,737)            922                  –                  –                  –         (6,815)

Gain on interest rate swap                   10,299         (1,069)                 –                  –                  –          9,230

Unrestricted net deficiency                         (733,432)           (147)      (19,240)      (74,825)                 –     (827,644)

Total Net deficiency                                   (398,921)           (147)       (19,240)     270,807     (270,807)    (418,308)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2008
                                                                  Balance,     Unrealized       Revenues       Transfers/                               Balance,
                                                              Beginning,   Changes in             Under    Allocations            Use of           End of

Year ended December 31 (in thousands)               of Year     Net Assets       Expenses     and Other             Funds               Year

                                                                              $                   $                   $                   $                   $                   $

Externally restricted

Operating and maintenance 
reserve                                                    61,175                   –                   –         (10,876)                   –         50,299

Renewal and replacement reserve             3,000                   –                   –                   –                   –           3,000

Debt service fund – principal                      8,682                   –                   –         33,912         (23,314)         19,280

                                                                72,857                   –                   –         23,036         (23,314)         72,579

Internally restricted

Airport improvement fees 
collected, net                                       106,387                   –                   –       255,225       (219,500)       142,112

Notional principal of long-term 
debt                                                        49,878                   –                   –         90,000       (139,878)                   –

Debt service coverage 
requirement                                         128,463                   –                   –           (8,643)                   –       119,820

                                                              284,728                   –                   –       336,582       (359,378)       261,932 

Total Restricted net assets                           357,585                   –                   –       359,618       (382,692)       334,511

Unrestricted

Unrestricted net deficiency                   (713,154)                   –         (45,914)         23,074                   –       (735,994)

Accumulated unrealized changes 
in net assets:

Loss on hedge                                       (8,659)             922                   –                   –                   –           (7,737)

Gain on interest rate swap                   11,368           (1,069)                   –                   –                   –         10,299

Unrestricted net deficiency                         (710,445)             (147)       (45,914)         23,074                   –       (733,432)

Total Net deficiency                                     (352,860)             (147)       (45,914)       382,692       (382,692)     (398,921)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31 (in thousands)                                                                                         2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                              $                               $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Revenues under expenses                                                                                                      (19,240)                     (45,914)

Items not affecting cash

Amortization of property and equipment                                                                       205,547                   210,730

Change in fair value of reserve and other funds and other investments 
(Notes 6 and 7)                                                                                                                       (447)                     52,700

Loss on disposal of property and equipment                                                                         36                       1,128

Gain on disposal of ABCP investments (Notes 6 and 15)                                                           (415)                               –

Amortization of other assets                                                                                                 1,209                       1,210

Excess of cash funding over pension expense                                                                       (4,691)                   (11,130)

Change in fair value of derivative, net                                                                                       (760)                     (1,910)

Changes in non-cash working capital

Decrease in accounts receivable                                                                                         5,596                       8,917 

Decrease in prepaid expenses                                                                                               (247)                       (566)

Decrease (Increase) in inventory                                                                                             341                     (1,446)

(Decrease) Increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued interest       (1,838)                       6,147

Increase (Decrease) in security deposits, deferred credits and other liabilities             34,056                     (2,192)

                                                                                                                                          219,147                   217,674 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisition of property and equipment                                                                           (2,927)                     (2,694)

Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment                                                                 65                         194

Work in progress (Note 12)                                                                                                 (152,387)                 (210,775)

Proceeds on redemption of ABCP investments (Note 6)                                                     2,090                               –

Other investments (Note 7)                                                                                                   26,813                   (10,826)

Reserve and other funds                                                                                                (103,296)                   (31,088)

                                                                                                                                          (229,642)                 (255,189)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Issuance of medium term notes and long-term debt (Note 13)                                             635,247                   821,741

Repayment of medium term notes and long-term debt (Note 13)                                       (261,668)                 (736,626)

Draw on credit facility                                                                                                             57,000                   400,609

Repayment of credit facility                                                                                                   (57,000)                 (401,000)

Bank indebtedness                                                                                                                  (1,036)                       1,036

Decrease in deferred ground rent payable (Note 3)                                                                  (4,156)                     (4,156)

                                                                                                                                          368,387                     81,604

Net Cash Inflow                                                                                                                      357,892                     44,089

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year                                                                   193,911                   149,822 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year                                                                             551,803                   193,911

As at December 31, 2009, cash and cash equivalents consisted of short-term investments of $515.8 million, cash of $42.9 million less
outstanding cheques of $6.9 million. At December 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents consisted of short-term investments of
$193.9 million, cash of $10.5 million less outstanding cheques of $11.5 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. National Airports Policy

In July 1994, the federal government announced its National Airports Policy whereby the

management, operation and maintenance of 26 airports within the National Airport System was to

be transferred through various ground lease arrangements to locally controlled Canadian Airport

Authorities (“CAAs”). The National Airports Policy also prescribed the Fundamental Principles for

the creation and operation of CAAs including the Public Accountability Principles to be adopted

by each CAA.

CAAs are free to operate airports on a commercial basis and have the authority to set all fees and

charges. The federal government retains regulatory control over aeronautics and as such will set safety

and security standards for airports, licence airports and regulate the aviation industry as a whole.

2. Corporate Profile of the Greater Toronto Airports Authority

Greater Toronto Airports Authority (“GTAA”) was incorporated on March 3, 1993 under Part II of

the Canada Corporations Act, as a corporation without share capital. This corporate structure

ensures that the excess of revenues over expenses is retained and reinvested in airports and airport

operations under control of the GTAA. The Bylaws of the GTAA were amended in 2009. The GTAA

has all the powers, obligations and duties of any private Canadian corporation. The GTAA is

governed by a 15-member Board of Directors (the “Board”). Directors serve a term of three years and

are eligible to be re-appointed subject to a maximum limit of nine years. Seven Directors are

appointed by the Board on a cyclical basis from a pool of candidates identified in a search process

provided that at least three of these appointments are candidates who have been nominated by the

Named Community Nominators comprised of The Board of Trade of the City of Brampton, The

Board of Trade of the City of Mississauga, The Toronto Board of Trade, the Law Society of Upper

Canada, Association of Professional Engineers Ontario, and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of

Ontario. The Board appoints five Directors from municipal candidates. Each of the Regional

Municipalities of York, Halton, Peel and Durham and the City of Toronto are entitled to provide, on

a rotating basis, the names of three candidates and the Board appoints one of the three candidates for

each available position as a Director. In addition, the Government of Canada and the Province of

Ontario are entitled to appoint two Directors and one Director, respectively.

The mandate of the GTAA is to operate and develop a regional network of airports in the south-

central Ontario region. Under the terms of a ground lease (see Note 3, Airport subject to ground

lease), Toronto Pearson International Airport (the “Airport”), was transferred to the GTAA in 1996.

The Airport operates on 1,867 hectares of land include Terminals 1 and 3, airside assets including five

runways, taxiways and aprons, groundside assets including bridges and parking lots, infield assets

including an aircraft deicing facility and cargo buildings, and ancillary structures. Excluded are any

assets owned by Nav Canada, the operator of Canada’s civil air navigation system.
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The GTAA is committed to the continuing development of the Airport. This includes continued

redevelopment of the terminals, increasing airside capacity, increasing cargo and aircraft facilities, and

reconstructing the roadway system. 

3. Airport Subject to Ground Lease

On December 2, 1996, the GTAA assumed the operation, management and control of the Airport

for a period of 60 years, together with one renewal term of 20 years, by virtue of a ground lease

(the “Ground Lease”) between the GTAA, as tenant, and Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada,

represented by the Minister of Transport (“Transport Canada”), as landlord. The GTAA assumed the

obligations of Transport Canada under all existing agreements at the Airport.

The Ground Lease is the principal document governing the relationship between the GTAA and

Transport Canada at the Airport. It determines the rent to be paid and generally allocates risk and

responsibilities between the GTAA and the federal government for all matters related to the operation

of the Airport. Under the Ground Lease, all revenue and expenditure contracts in effect on

December 1, 1996, were assigned to the GTAA. The GTAA did not assume any liability with

respect to claims against the federal government incurred prior to December 2, 1996.

By virtue of its status as the tenant under the Ground Lease, the GTAA has the authority to set

and collect airline rates and charges, negotiate and issue leases, licences and permits and construct

and develop the infrastructure of the Airport. The Ground Lease permits the GTAA to pledge its

leasehold interest in the Airport as security.

In February 2008, the GTAA and Transport Canada executed an amendment to the Ground

Lease that replaced the previous calculation that was largely based on passenger traffic with one that

is based on revenue. The new formula was phased in such that in 2008 and 2009 ground rent was set

at fixed amounts. Beginning in 2010, ground rent will be calculated as a percentage of revenue using

an escalating percentage of Airport Revenue which has the following ranges: 0% for revenue below

$5.0 million, 1% for revenue between $5.0 million and $10.0 million, 5% for revenue between

$10.0 million and $25.0 million, 8% for revenue between $25.0 million and $100.0 million, 10%

for revenue between $100.0 million and $250.0 million, and 12% for revenue in excess of

$250.0 million.

In July 2003, the Government of Canada announced a program to allow for a deferral in the

ground rent for a two-year period commencing July 1, 2003, in the amount of $41.6 million. This

amount is being repaid over a 10-year period, commencing in 2006, through increased annual ground

rent payments of approximately $4.2 million per year. The decrease in the liability for 2009 was

approximately $4.2 million, bringing the total remaining liability to $24.9 million. 
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4. Significant Accounting Policies

Presentation and Basis of Accounting

The GTAA’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure

of commitments and contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. These estimations and assumptions include the

useful lives of property and equipment, valuation allowances, certain revenue amounts and fair value

measurements. Actual results could differ from estimates.

Ground Lease

The Ground Lease is accounted for as an operating lease. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with an original

term of 90 days or less.

Inventory

Inventory consists of natural gas and parts and supplies held for use at the Airport. Inventory is stated

at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Other Assets

As required under the terms of the Ground Lease, the title of any land acquired is transferred to the

federal government while GTAA retains use of the land. The purchase price for acquired land is

recorded as land acquisition costs and amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of

the Ground Lease. These costs are tested for impairment annually. An impairment loss is recognized

when the assets carrying value is no longer recoverable from its future estimated undiscounted cash

flows and exceeds its fair value. 

Acquisitions

Assets acquired related to the development of the Airport are capitalized to work in progress or

property and equipment. Costs related to projects under construction are capitalized until the

construction project or replacement facilities become operational.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Property and equipment include items such as

improvements to leased land, runways, buildings and roadways. These assets will revert to Transport

Canada upon the expiration or termination of the Ground Lease.
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Property and equipment are amortized at the following annual rates:

Buildings and support facilities, parking structures,             2.5% declining balance for terminal facilities
pedestrian bridges and approach systems, and             2.5% to 20% declining balance for non-terminal facilities
apron works (“Terminal and Airside assets”)

Baggage handling systems                                                     Straight-line over 25 years

Improvements to leased land                                                 Straight-line over the remaining term of the Ground Lease 

Runways and taxiways                                                              2.5% declining balance
                                                                                        15 years straight-line for runway and taxiway surfaces

Operating assets                                                                       10% to 30% declining balance

Capital leases                                                                           10% to 30% declining balance 

Leases entered into by the GTAA for the use or operation of equipment are classified as capital, to

the extent they meet the criteria for capitalization in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles.

Work in Progress

Work in progress is transferred to property and equipment when the asset is placed in service. Interest

associated with borrowing funds for work in progress is capitalized until the work is substantially

complete and assets are operational.

Revenue Recognition

Landing fees, general terminal charges and car parking revenues are recognized as the airport facilities

are utilized. Airport improvement fees, net of airline administration fees, are accrued upon the

enplanement of the passenger and are subject to reconciliation with the air carriers (see Note 9,

Airport improvement fees). Concessions revenue is earned on a monthly basis and is recognized based

on a percentage of sales or specified minimum rent guarantees. Ground transportation revenue is

recognized based on a combination of the duration of the term of the licences and permits and

utilization fees. Rentals revenue is recognized straight-line over the duration of the respective

agreements. Revenue derived from the Cogeneration facility, included in other revenue, is recognized

as electricity is delivered.

Salaries, Wages and Benefits

Employee salaries, wages and benefits are accrued as earned by employees.

Employee Future Benefit Plans

The GTAA maintains both defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans for

its employees. The pension costs of the defined benefit plans are actuarially determined using the

projected benefit method prorated on service and best estimate assumptions. For the purpose of

calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. The unamortized

net actuarial gain or loss exceeding 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation at the 
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beginning of the year and the fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year is deferred and

amortized over the average remaining service life of active employees. The average remaining service

period of the active employees covered by one of the defined benefit pension plans is eight years

(2008 – eight years) and the other plan is two years (2008 – two years). Past service costs arising from

plan amendments are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining

service period of active employees at the date of amendment. The costs of the defined benefit plans are

recognized as the benefits are earned through employee service. A curtailment loss is recognized in the

statement of operations when it is probable that the curtailment will occur and the net effects can be

reasonably estimated. A curtailment gain is recognized in the statement of operations when an event

giving rise to a curtailment has occurred. The costs of the defined contribution pension plans are

expensed as the GTAA becomes obligated to contribute to the defined contribution plans. 

Certain employees are provided with paid-up life insurance at the time of retirement, the cost of

which is recorded in the period in which the insurance is acquired. Certain employees also have a

severance entitlement plan under the terms of the labour agreement. The plan provides a payment

upon retirement, resignation, termination or death to eligible employees or their beneficiaries, under

certain circumstances. The cost of this obligation is recorded in deferred credit and other liabilities on

the balance sheet. 

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs or debt issuance premiums are included in the debt balances and recognized

as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the debt. The GTAA uses the effective interest

method to recognize bond interest expense, where the amount to be recognized varies over the life of

the debt based on the principal outstanding. 

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and

are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss

depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the

items being hedged.

Derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps and foreign exchange hedges, may

be used from time to time to reduce exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange

rates. Payments and receipts under interest rate swap agreements will be recognized as adjustments to

interest and financing costs where the underlying instrument is a GTAA debt issue and as adjustments

to interest income where the underlying instrument is an investment. Derivative financial instruments

that are not designated by the GTAA to be in an effective hedging relationship will be carried at fair

value with the changes in fair value, including any payments and receipts made or received, being

recorded in interest and financing costs. 
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Currently, the GTAA has no derivative instruments outstanding that have been designated as

hedges. However, certain accumulated unrealized changes in net assets relating to discontinued cash

flow hedges are being amortized into income over the term to maturity of the previously hedged item.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or contracts are separated from their host

contracts and accounted for as derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not

closely related to those of the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those

of a free standing derivative; and the combined instrument or contract is not measured at fair value

with changes in fair value recognized in interest and other expenses, net. These embedded derivatives

are measured at fair value with changes therein recognized in interest and financing expenses, net.

As at December 31, 2009, the GTAA does not have any outstanding contracts or financial

instruments with embedded derivatives that require bifurcation.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent

measurement is dependant on their classification as described below. 

Their classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or

issued, their characteristics and the GTAA’s designation of such instruments. 

All financial assets must be classified either as held-for-trading (“HFT”), available-for-sale (“AFS”),

held-to-maturity (“HTM”), or loans and receivables. All financial liabilities must be classified as either

HTM or other liabilities (“OL”). Subsequent to initial recognition, the standards require that all

financial assets and financial liabilities, including all derivatives, be measured at fair value with the

exception of loans and receivables, securities classified as HTM, liabilities classified as OL.

Any changes in unrealized gains or losses related to AFS securities that are considered temporary

and certain unrealized gains and losses relating to cash flow hedging activities are disclosed as

separate components of Accumulated unrealized changes in net assets.

Classification of Financial Instruments

The following is a summary of the accounting model the GTAA has applied to each of its significant

categories of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                           Available-for-sale

Accounts receivable                                                                                       Loans and receivables

Asset backed commercial paper (“ABCP”)                                                 Held-for-trading 

Reserve and other funds (excluding ABCP)                                                 Available-for-sale 

Other investments                                                                                         Held-for-trading

Derivative                                                                                                       Held-for-trading

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                     Other liabilities

Security deposits                                                                                           Other liabilities

Long-term debt                                                                                             Other liabilities
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Held-for-Trading

HFT financial assets are financial assets typically acquired for resale prior to maturity. They are

measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. Interest earned, interest accrued, gains and losses

realized on disposal and unrealized gains and losses from market fluctuations are included in the

statement of operations. 

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost.

Available-for-Sale

AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS, or that are

not classified as loans and receivables, HTM investments or HFT. AFS financial assets are carried at

fair value with unrealized gains and losses that are considered temporary being included in unrealized

changes in net assets until realized, when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to interest and

financing costs, or if the assets become impaired on an other than temporary basis. 

Other liabilities

OL are recorded at amortized cost and include all liabilities other than derivatives to which the fair

value has been applied.

5. Changes in Accounting Standards

(a) Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) issued accounting standard Section 3064,

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which establishes standards for the recognition, measurement,

presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The mandatory and effective date is for

annual and interim period in fiscal year beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The GTAA began

application of this section effective January 1, 2009. There was no impact to the financial statements.

(b) Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures

In 2009, the GTAA adopted the amendments to Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures.

These amendments resulted in enhanced disclosures regarding fair value measurement including their

classification within a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to fair value measurement. The adoption of

these amendments impacted disclosures in the financial statements. See Note 21, Financial instruments.

(c) Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement

In 2009, Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, was amended. The

amendment clarified the calculation of the effective interest method which is a method of calculating

the amortized cost of financial assets and financial liabilities and of allocating the interest income or

interest expense over the relevant period. The impact of the clarification had no effect on the

Corporation’s financial statements. 
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(d) EIC-173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The CICA issued Abstract EIC-173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities, which states that the Corporation’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty

should be taken into consideration in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial

liabilities, including derivative instruments. The Abstract was effective January 20, 2009. This

standard did not have a material impact on the financial statements. 

(e) International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

The Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) has set the transition date for financial reporting under

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) to be January 1, 2011. The transition will

require the restatement, for comparative purposes, of amounts reported by the GTAA for its year

ended December 31, 2010, and of the opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010. The GTAA

intends to adopt IFRS effective January 1, 2011. 

The GTAA has prepared a formal conversion plan to implement IFRS which includes an extensive

analysis of accounting differences between GAAP and IFRS and the assessment of the expected impact

of the accounting differences on the Corporation’s financial statements. To date the project work has

identified that the most significant financial impact on the future financial results of the Corporation

will relate to the accounting for property and equipment as a result of the need to expand asset

componentization, segregate intangible assets as defined by new standards, and to make changes to the

method of calculating capitalized interest on work in progress. In addition, the GTAA does not expect

IFRIC Interpretation 12, Service Concession Arrangements, to have an impact on the Corporation.

Several IFRS standards are in the process of being amended by the International Accounting

Standards Board (“IASB”). Amendments to existing standards are expected to continue until the

transition date of January 1, 2011. The GTAA monitors the IASB’s activities on an ongoing basis,

giving consideration to any proposed changes, where applicable, in its assessment of differences

between IFRS and GAAP. However, since all potential changes to IFRS that will be effective as at

December 31, 2011, are not yet known, any conclusions drawn at this point must be considered

preliminary. As a result, at this time the GTAA cannot reasonably determine the full impact that

adopting IFRS may have on its financial and future results. 
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6. Reserve and Other Funds 

The Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund (the “Trust Funds”) and Operations, Capital

and Financing Funds invested in cash and other investments are as follows:

Years ended December 31 (in thousands)                                                                                                     2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Debt Service Fund

Interest                                                                                                                                 90,862                       99,019

Principal                                                                                                                               13,354                       19,280

                                                                                                                                      104,216                     118,299

Debt Service Reserve Fund

Revenue Bonds

Series 1997-3 due December 3, 2027                                                                           36,735                       37,840

Series 1999-1 due July 30, 2029                                                                                     40,048                       41,178

Medium Term Notes

Series 2000-1 due June 12, 2030                                                                                   38,544                       40,000

Series 2000-2 due July 19, 2010                                                                                     39,531                       23,123

Series 2001-1 due June 4, 2031                                                                                     35,034                       36,213

Series 2002-1 due January 30, 2012                                                                              31,037                       31,948

Series 2002-2 due December 13, 2012                                                                         29,518                       30,402

Series 2002-3 due October 15, 2032                                                                             38,234                       39,493

Series 2004-1 due February 2, 2034                                                                              38,643                       39,870

Series 2004-2 due February 4, 2009                                                                                        –                       11,426

Series 2005-1 due June 1, 2015                                                                                     17,521                       18,287

Series 2005-3 due February 15, 2016                                                                            16,420                       16,881

Series 2006-1 due February 28, 2011                                                                            11,012                       11,270

Series 2007-1 due June 1, 2017                                                                                     21,824                       22,432

Series 2007-2 due May 14, 2010                                                                                    15,013                         8,255

Series 2008-1 due April 17, 2018                                                                                   26,223                       26,672

Series 2008-2 due December 6, 2013                                                                           19,022                       19,194

Series 2009-1 due November 20, 2019                                                                         35,361                               –

Security for Bank Indebtedness

Series 1997-A Pledge Bond                                                                                           10,203                       10,082

                                                                                                                                      500,193                     464,566

Operations, Capital and Financing Funds

Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund                                                                     62,925                       50,299

Renewal and Replacement Reserve Fund                                                                           3,000                         3,000

Airport Improvement Fee Reserve Fund (includes ABCP)                                            106,458                     142,112

Notional Principal Fund                                                                                                   130,175                               –

Debt Service Coverage Fund (includes ABCP)                                                                 93,424                     119,820

                                                                                                                                      395,982                     315,231

                                                                                                                                    1,000,391                     898,096

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GTAA 2009 ANNUAL REPORT78

GTAA_Financials:GTAA_Fins  29/04/10  7:14 AM  Page 78



(a) Asset Backed Commercial Paper:

As at December 31, 2009, the GTAA held $166.8 million (2008 – $182.2 million), face value, of non-

bank sponsored ABCP. Of this amount, $166.8 million (2008 – $130.2 million) was held in reserve

and other funds and $nil (2008 – $52.0 million) was held in other investments (see Note 7, Other

investments) on the balance sheet. 

During the year, the restructuring of the ABCP held by the GTAA was completed. This ABCP had

been “frozen” since July 2007 as the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee (“Committee”) for Third-

Party Asset Backed Commercial Paper negotiated a restructuring of these notes. The face value of the

GTAA’s original investment in the ABCP was $182.2 million. 

Under the restructuring the GTAA received restructured notes as follows:
> $61.7 million Master Asset Vehicle (“MAV”) II Class A-1 Notes, rated “A” by DBRS with an

expected term to maturity of approximately eight years;
> $59.1 million MAV II Class A-2 Notes, rated “A” by DBRS with an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $10.7 million MAV II Class B Notes, which are unrated and have an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $4.1 million MAV II Class C Notes, which are unrated and have an expected term to maturity of

approximately eight years;
> $2.1 million Traditional Asset (“TA”) Tracking Notes in one class which are unrated and have an

expected term to maturity of approximately five years (which were subsequently redeemed);
> $43.2 million Ineligible Asset (“IA”) Tracking Notes in eight classes which are unrated and have

expected terms to maturity from five to 28 years (of which $10.1 million were cancelled for

no proceeds).

The notes received have the following characteristics: 
> MAV Notes, issued in four classes (A-1, A-2, B and C), are long-term floating rate notes backed by

a combination of leveraged collateralized debt, synthetic assets and traditional securitized assets;
> TA Tracking Notes are long-term floating rate notes backed by traditional securitized assets; and
> IA Tracking Notes are long-term floating rate notes backed by traditional securitized assets with

exposure to the U.S. sub-prime mortgage market. 

The MAV II Class A-1 and A-2 Notes and the TA and IA Tracking Notes pay interest on a

quarterly basis at variable interest rates to the extent there is available cash flow from the underlying

assets. The MAV II Class B and C Notes have not paid, and are not expected to pay, current interest;

instead interest will accrue and to the extent possible be paid after the MAV II Class A-1 and A-2

Notes are repaid. During 2009 the GTAA received $1.2 million in interest payments, excluding

interest accrued during the restructuring period.

On April 23, 2009, the $2.1 million TA Tracking Notes were redeemed for proceeds of

$2.1 million with an estimated fair value of $1.6 million at the time of redemption. 
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On May 20, 2009, the Class 2 IA Tracking Notes were cancelled with the GTAA receiving no

proceeds or other consideration. The Class 2 IA Tracking Notes had a face value of $10.2 million and

an estimated fair value of $1.1 million at the time of cancellation. 

On August 11, 2009, DBRS downgraded the rating on the MAV II Class A-2 notes to “BBB”. This

rating was confirmed on February 11, 2010. 

On October 28, 2009, Class 14 IA Tracking Notes were cancelled with the GTAA receiving no

consideration or proceeds. The Class 14 IA Tracking Notes had a face value of $1.5 million and an

estimated fair value of $nil at the time of cancellation. 

As a result of the above noted redemption and cancellation of the TA and IA Tracking Notes and

other minor adjustments to the principal value of the remaining notes, the GTAA now holds

restructured ABCP with a face value of $166.8 million.

The valuation technique used by the GTAA to estimate the fair value of its investments in

restructured ABCP at December 31, 2009, incorporates discounted cash flows derived considering the

best available public information regarding market conditions and other factors that a market

participant would consider for such investments. The assumptions used in determining the estimated

fair value reflect the details included in the information statements issued by the Committee, the asset

manager, the monitor for the restructuring and other public information and the risks associated with

each of the long-term floating rate notes. 

Assumptions regarding the interest rates and maturities of the various long-term floating rate

notes, discount rates and credit losses used in estimating the fair value include: 

                                              Class A-1               Class A-2                   Class B                  Class C                     IA Notes

Interest rate                              0.00%                     0.00%                     0.00%                     0.00%                           0.83%

Discount rate1                           6.51%                     8.75%                   15.00%                     0.00%       10.12% to 16.26%

Remaining term                      7 years                   7 years                 7 years                   7 years               4 to 27 years

Note 1: For Class B and C Notes the indicated rate is the fair value as a per cent of face value and not the discount rate. For IA Notes the discount rate is applied
after the credit provision. 

The interest rate represents the current interest rate environment where short-term money market

instruments pay a very low rate of interest. 

Two benchmarks were utilized to determine the discount rates used in estimating the fair value of

the MAV II Class A-1 as at December 31, 2009. One method used Bankers’ Acceptance rates plus

expected spreads for “A” rated financial institution debt with similar maturities. This benchmark was

allocated a weighting of 25% in determining the discount rate. The second benchmark, weighted

75%, used to determine the appropriate discount rate utilized the spread or premium paid on the

CDX.NA.IG five-year index to determine the appropriate spread over seven-year government bond

rates. The CDX index was chosen in addition to the financial institution spread as it is an alternate

indicator of investment grade credit market conditions and provides a second measure of investor

sentiment in what continue to be uncertain markets. While the restructured notes are subject to credit
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enhancements such as restructured and remote margin call provisions, cross-collateralization and a

dedicated margin funding facility which support an investment grade credit rating, an additional

200 basis points were added to the discount rate of the Class A-1 to further reflect the uncertainties

surrounding the liquidity of these instruments. The discount rate used to estimate the fair value of the

MAV II Class A-2 Notes was derived using the Markit CDX North America Crossover Index which is

comprised of “BBB” and “BB” rated securities, reflecting the rating on the MAV II Class A-2 Notes.

An additional 200 basis points was added to the benchmark discount rate of the Class A-2 Notes to

further reflect the uncertainties surrounding these specific instruments. 

The Class B Notes were valued on an equity basis at 15% of face value, indicative of their

subordination as to payment of both principal and interest under the restructuring. Previously these

notes had been valued at 45% of face value.

The Class C Notes have been assigned no value based on their subordination as to payment of

both principal and interest under the restructuring. Previously these notes had been valued at 10% of

face value.

The IA Tracking Notes were valued using a discount rate equivalent to the estimated current

market yield on ten-year “B” or “CCC” rated bonds, as appropriate for the individual class of notes,

with a term to maturity approximately equal to the term of the notes, reflecting the reduced credit

quality of these securities due to their exposure to the U.S. sub-prime mortgage market. 

An increase of 1% in the weighted average discount rate would reduce the estimated fair value of

the GTAA’s investment in ABCP by approximately $5.3 million (2008 – $6.0 million).

The probability weighted discounted cash flows resulted in an estimated fair value of the GTAA’s

ABCP of $82.9 million (2008 – $92.3 million) as at December 31, 2009. This represents a decrease of

$9.4 million when compared to the December 31, 2008, estimated fair value which can be primarily

attributed to the receipt of cash proceeds and the reduction in value of the Class B and Class C Notes

from 45% and 10% of fair value to 15% and 0% of face value, respectively. This was partially offset

by increases in valuation of the remaining classes of notes due to the use of lower discount rates in

the valuation model, reflecting improved credit market conditions over the period.

The total impairment charge recognized is approximately 50.3% of the current face value.

Continuing uncertainties regarding the value of the assets which underlie the ABCP, the amount

and timing of cash flows and the current credit environment could give rise to further material change

in the fair value of the GTAA’s investment in ABCP. 

The GTAA has sufficient cash and other sources of liquidity available to meet its reserve

requirements, and to fund its operating, capital and financing obligations, and does not expect that

its operations will be materially affected by the current uncertainty over the fair value of its

ABCP investments.

The restructured ABCP held by the GTAA does not meet the definition of a qualified investment

under the terms of the Trust Indenture and as a result the GTAA is not in compliance with the
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requirement in the Trust Indenture that all money held in any account, fund or reserve fund

established under the Trust Indenture be held in cash or invested in qualified investments. The GTAA is

of the view that the non-compliance is not of a nature which would give rise to an event of default for

purposes of the Trust Indenture, which requires, among other things, that any non-compliance must

materially adversely affect bondholders. As of the date of this report, no event of default has occurred.

All ABCP notes are held in the Airport Improvement Fee Reserve Fund and Debt Service Coverage

Reserve Fund. 

(b) Components of Reserve Funds:

Trust Funds

The GTAA is required to establish and maintain with the Trustee the Trust Funds in accordance with

the terms of the Trust Indenture (see Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt). The Trust Funds are

held for the benefit of the bondholders and noteholders for use and application by the Trustee in

accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture. 

(i) Debt Service Fund (principal and interest)

Amounts in the Debt Service Fund are allocated to either an Interest Account or a Principal

Account. On a monthly basis, the GTAA is required to deposit into the Interest Account an

amount equal to one-sixth of the semi-annual aggregate interest requirement due on all

outstanding bonds and medium term notes. Also on a monthly basis, the GTAA is required to

deposit into the Principal Account an amount equal to one-twelfth of the total principal

amount included in annual debt service, during the term, for any bonds or notes due in such

year. The principal requirements of the Debt Service Fund were cash-funded from the

Notional Principal Fund during 2009 and has a balance of $13.3 million at December 31,

2009 (2008 – $19.3 million). Amounts in the Debt Service Fund are held by the Trustee for

the benefit of the bondholders or noteholders and are disbursed by the Trustee to pay interest

and principal as it becomes due.

Principal of $10.8 million was paid from the Debt Service Fund in 2009 (2008 –

$23.3 million). During 2009, $4.9 million was deposited and/or allocated to the Principal

Account of the Debt Service Fund by the GTAA for the principal of the Series 1999-1,

Series 2000-2, Series 2004-2 and Series 2007-2 bonds (2008 – $33.9 million). The deposit to

the Principal Account of the Debt Service Fund to fulfill principal requirements was funded

from the Notional Principal Fund (see Operations, Capital and Financing Funds below)

during the year.

(ii) Debt Service Reserve Fund

To the extent provided in any Supplemental Indenture, the GTAA is required to set aside

funds in the Debt Service Reserve Fund for each series of bonds or medium term notes. The

required amount is established at the time of issue of each series of bonds or medium term

notes and funded from the proceeds of each issue. Amounts held in the Debt Service Reserve
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Fund are held by the Trustee for the benefit of the bondholders or noteholders for use and

application in accordance with the terms of the Trust Indenture. At the maturity of each series

of bonds or medium term notes, funds not applied by the Trustee will be returned to

the GTAA.

Included among these trust funds is a debt service reserve fund related to the $550 million

pledge bond (Series 1997-A) securing the credit facility with the syndicate of five Canadian

banks. The minimum required reserve balance is adjusted annually based on the prevailing

Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus applicable margin. At the maturity or cancellation of this series

of bonds, funds not applied by the Trustee will be returned to the GTAA.

Operations, Capital and Financing Funds

The GTAA has established an Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund and a Renewal and

Replacement Reserve Fund pursuant to the Trust Indenture. The Operating and Maintenance Reserve

Fund is equal to one-sixth of the projected operating and maintenance expenses for the following fiscal

year. As at December 31, 2009, this fund had a balance of $62.9 million (2008 – $50.3 million). This

amount is to be used only for operating and maintenance expenses or other purposes as required for the

safe, ongoing operation and maintenance of the Airport as set out in the Trust Indenture. The Renewal

and Replacement Reserve Fund of $3.0 million (2008 – $3.0 million) is to be used for unanticipated

repairs to, or the replacement of, property and equipment as set out in the Trust Indenture.

In conjunction with the airport improvement fee agreements with participating airlines, the GTAA

has established an Airport Improvement Fee Reserve Fund for the deposit of fees collected and not yet

utilized. As at December 31, 2009, this fund had an accumulated balance of $106.5 million (2008 –

$142.1 million). During 2009, $260.0 million (2008 – $219.5 million) of accumulated Airport

Improvement Fee Funds were utilized for certain debt service payments.

Capital and financing funds include Notional Principal and Debt Service Coverage Funds, which

are amounts that have been collected through airline rates and charges. The Notional Principal Fund

may be used to reduce future debt obligations, when principal is due for any series of bonds or

medium term notes. For non-amortizing debt, principal is deemed to be included in annual debt

service, based on a 30-year amortization, commencing on the same date as interest is expensed. As at

December 31, 2009, the balance in the Notional Principal Fund was $130.2 million (2008 – $nil).

The Debt Service Coverage Fund is established to meet the coverage requirements set out in the Trust

Indenture, and as at December 31, 2009, had a balance of $93.4 million (2008 –$119.8 million).

7. Other Investments

As at December 31, 2009, the GTAA held $nil (2008 – $52.0 million), face value, of ABCP

investments classified as other investments. Upon the implementation of the restructuring of ABCP

in January 2009, the GTAA received new restructured notes that are now held within reserves and

other funds (see Note 6, Reserve and other funds). 
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8. Accounts Receivable

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Trade accounts receivable                                                                                                      38,334                     40,762 

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts                                                                                       (187)                         (701)

Trade accounts receivable, net                                                                                             38,147                     40,061 

Other receivables                                                                                                                       1,934                       5,616 

                                                                                                                                        40,081                     45,677 

Less: non-current portion                                                                                                                   –                               –

Total accounts receivable                                                                                                       40,081                   45,677 

The fair values of accounts receivables approximate their book values as at December 31, 2009.

There are no balances due from related parties.

Before accepting a new customer, the GTAA uses an external credit scoring system to assess the

potential customer’s credit quality as well as an internal credit rating system. 

The GTAA performs a detailed review of accounts on a customer-by-customer basis when

assessing impairments. Each account is assessed based on factors surrounding the credit risk of

specific customers including historical trends, the influence of the current economic environment and

other information. 

Customers are subject to credit checks and require prepayment or a deposit in the form of cash or a

letter of credit. Credit reviews for aeronautical customers are seasonally reviewed for appropriateness.

Should the requirements for security change, new payment terms or deposit requirements will be

established. A security deposit is required for all non-aeronautical customers as well. Credit checks for

these customers are performed at the time of the agreement negotiations, renewal and amendments.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is specific in nature. No amount is subject to write-off until

all possible collection action has been taken by the GTAA. Interest is charged on all overdue balances

at a rate of prime plus 3% per annum unless otherwise stipulated in terms agreed upon by both

parties of the contract. 

As of December 31, 2009, accounts receivable of $0.5 million (2008 – $1.1 million) were

considered past due but not considered impaired. These amounts relate to a number of customers

with no recent history of default. The aging of these receivables past due at December 31, 2009 and

2008, are as follows: 
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(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

1 to 5 days                                                                                                                                       10                             3 

6 to 15 days                                                                                                                                     39                           92 

16 to 30 days                                                                                                                                 271                         621 

31 to 60 days                                                                                                                                 107                         157 

61+ days                                                                                                                                         120                         261 

Total balance past due                                                                                                                 547                       1,134 

As of December 31, 2009, total accounts receivable of $0.2 million (2008 – $0.7 million) were

considered impaired and not included in the table above. A provision of $0.2 million (2008 –

$0.7 million) has been made against these related impaired accounts receivable balances. These

impaired receivables mainly relate to customers where collection is uncertain or amounts are being

disputed by the GTAA’s customers. 

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows:

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Balance, beginning of year                                                                                                           701                           881

Deductions to provision                                                                                                              (394)                           (41)

Amounts written off during the period                                                                                      (120)                         (139)

Amounts recovered during the period                                                                                             –                               –

Balance, end of year                                                                                                                      187                           701 

Bad debt expense (recovery) has been included in goods and services expense in the statement of

operations. Amounts included in the provision account are generally written off when there is no

expectation of recovering amounts owing.

9. Airport Improvement Fees

Airport improvement fees (“AIF”) reported in the statement of operations are recorded net of airline

administration charges of $10.9 million during 2009 (2008 – $10.5 million).

AIF revenue is remitted to the GTAA based on airlines self-assessing their passenger counts. An

annual reconciliation is performed by the GTAA with air carriers.
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10. Other Assets

                                                                                                                      December 31, 2009

                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                 Net Book
(in thousands)                                                                                                      Cost           Amortization                         Value

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Deferred leasehold inducements                                                            6,107                     2,596                     3,511

Land acquisition costs                                                                           26,139                     1,674                   24,465

                                                                                                      32,246                     4,270                   27,976

Fair value of the OPA derivative                                                                                                                               41,961

                                                                                                                                                                          69,937

                                                                                                                      December 31, 2008

                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                 Net Book
(in thousands)                                                                                                       Cost           Amortization                         Value

                                                                                                                      $                               $                               $

Deferred leasehold inducements                                                             6,107                       1,908                       4,199 

Land acquisition costs                                                                            26,139                       1,152                     24,987 

                                                                                                      32,246                       3,060                     29,186 

Fair value of the OPA derivative                                                                                                                               41,201 

                                                                                                                                                                            70,387 

The aggregate amortization expense in respect of other assets for the year ended December 31, 2009,

was $1.2 million (2008 – $1.2 million) and is included in goods and services expense. There were no

additions to other assets during the year.

On February 1, 2006, the GTAA entered into a Clean Energy Supply contract (“CES Contract”)

with the Ontario Power Authority (“OPA”), pursuant to which the GTAA is obligated to have

90 MW of electrical energy available to the Ontario power grid. The term of the CES Contract is for

20 years, subject to early termination rights available to the GTAA. The contract allows for payments

by either party, depending on whether net electricity market revenues that the GTAA is deemed to

have earned are greater or less than a predetermined threshold, as defined in the CES Contract.

The contract has been determined to be a derivative to be carried at fair value and upon adoption

of the new financial instrument standards in 2007, the derivative was fair valued at $39.7 million.

The fair value of the derivative as at December 31, 2009 was $42.0 million. The GTAA realized an

increase in the fair value of the derivative during the year of $7.0 million which was recorded in

goods and services expense, and received cash proceeds of approximately $6.2 million which reduced

its carrying value.
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The GTAA also recorded a deferred credit of $42.0 million which is being amortized over the

term of 20 years. The unamortized balance at December 31, 2009, was $35.4 million (2008 –

$37.6 million).

11. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are comprised of (See note 24, Comparative figures): 

                                                                                                                      December 31, 2009

                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                 Net Book
(in thousands)                                                                                                      Cost           Amortization                         Value

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Terminal and Airside assets                                                              5,874,503                 888,695             4,985,808

Baggage handling systems                                                                 278,035                   64,147                 213,888

Improvements to leased land                                                                 9,480                     2,047                     7,433 

Runways and taxiways                                                                         408,004                   70,864                 337,140

Operating assets                                                                                 609,192                 342,109                 267,083

Capital leases                                                                                           7,593                     6,749                       844 

                                                                                                  7,186,807               1,374,611             5,812,196

                                                                                                                      December 31, 2008

                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                 Net Book
(in thousands)                                                                                                       Cost           Amortization                         Value

                                                                                                                      $                               $                               $

Terminal and Airside assets                                                               5,583,400                   749,075                 4,834,325 

Baggage handling systems                                                                 277,713                     52,988                   224,725 

Improvements to leased land                                                                 9,480                       1,889                       7,591 

Runways and taxiways                                                                          398,485                     58,927                   339,558 

Operating assets                                                                                   583,694                   300,965                   282,729 

Capital leases                                                                                         10,001                       8,160                       1,841 

                                                                                                  6,862,773                 1,172,004                 5,690,769
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12. Work in Progress

                                                                                        December 31, 2009

                                                                                                                                                                          Transfers to                               
                                                                                                        Beginning               Additions/           Property and                         End
(in thousands)                                                                 of Year           Adjustments             Equipment                    of Year

                                                                                        $                             $                             $                             $

Terminal Development Project                        262,000                   72,284               (276,647)                   57,637 

Restoration Projects                                           34,621                 48,611                 (48,491)                 34,741 

T3 Redevelopment                                             43,790                 18,617                   (1,934)                 60,473 

                                                                            340,411                 139,512                 (327,072)                 152,851 

                                                                                                December 31, 2008

                                                                                                                                                                              Transfers to                                 
                                                                                                        Beginning               Additions/           Property and                           End
(in thousands)                                                                 of Year             Adjustments               Equipment                      of Year

                                                                                        $                               $                               $                               $

Terminal Development Project                             96,388                   179,340                     (13,728)                   262,000 

Restoration Projects                                             40,502                   26,402                     (32,283)                   34,621 

T3 Redevelopment                                                39,669                   13,732                     (9,611)                   43,790 

                                                                            176,559                   219,474                     (55,622)                   340,411 

As at December 31, 2009, work in progress included capitalized interest and financing costs in the

amount of $23.9 million (2008 – $27.6 million).
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13. Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt

During 2009, the GTAA issued the 2009-1 medium term note with a face value of $300.0 million for

net proceeds of $298.7 million and the 2009-1 Re-open medium term note with a face value of

$300.0 million for net proceeds of $329.7 million. In addition, the GTAA redeemed the 2004-2

medium term note with a face value of $250.0 million for a cost of $250.0 million.

As at December 31, 2009, long-term debt including accrued interest and net of unamortized

discounts and premiums consists of:

(in thousands)                             Coupon                                                             Principal
Series                                 Rate                        Maturity Date             Amount                         2009                         2008

                                                                                                                $                               $                               $

Revenue Bonds, See below

1997-3                             6.45%                 December 3, 2027               375,000                   371,692                   371,538 

1999-1                             6.45%                         July 30, 2029             444,223                 452,369                 463,198 

Medium Term Notes

2000-1                             7.05%                        June 12, 2030             550,000                 550,086                 550,046 

2000-2                             6.70%                         July 19, 2010             600,000                 618,955                 619,470 

2001-1                             7.10%                          June 4, 2031             500,000                 497,873                 497,776 

2002-1                             6.25%                   January 30, 2012             500,000                 512,497                 512,167 

2002-2                             6.25%               December 13, 2012             475,000                 475,128                 474,730 

2002-3                             6.98%                  October 15, 2032             550,000                 558,250                 558,257 

2004-1                             6.47%                   February 2, 2034             600,000                 609,494                 609,377 

2004-2                             4.45%                   February 4, 2009             250,000                               –                   254,451 

2005-1                             5.00%                          June 1, 2015             350,000                 348,538                 348,138 

2005-3                             4.70%                 February 15, 2016             350,000                 354,348                 354,164 

2006-1                             4.40%                 February 28, 2011             250,000                 252,793                 252,013 

2007-1                             4.85%                          June 1, 2017             450,000                 449,099                 448,902 

2007-2, See below           floating                         May 14, 2010             350,000                 350,089                 350,649 

2008-1                             5.26%                         April 17, 2018             500,000                 503,103                 502,767 

2008-2                             5.89%                 December 6, 2013             325,000                 324,966                   324,159 

2009-1                             5.96%              November 20, 2019             600,000                 630,511                               –

                                                                                                                                    7,859,791               7,491,802 

Capital leases                                                                                                                               540                     1,296 

Province of Ontario
Interest-free loan, payable in five equal annual

installments commencing 2011                                                                                     20,219                   19,075 

                                                                                                                                    7,880,550               7,512,173 

Less current portion (including accrued interest)                                                           1,062,172                 362,993 

                                                                                                                                  6,818,378                 7,149,180 
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Interest expense from the GTAA’s debt instruments for the year ended December 31, 2009,

amounted to $420.6 million (2008 – $426.3 million) net of capitalized interest of $20.0 million

(2008 – $14.7 million). Cash paid during 2009 for interest amounted to $445.9 million (2008 –

$435.1 million).

For Series 2007-2 interest rates are adjusted quarterly at the three-month Bankers’ Acceptance

rate plus 11 basis points. Interest rates ranged from 0.54% to 2.11% during 2009 (2008 – 2.11%

to 4.82%). 

With the exception of Series 1999-1 revenue bonds, principal on each series of revenue bonds and

medium term notes is payable on the maturity date. Series 1999-1 are amortizing revenue bonds

repayable in scheduled annual installments of principal, payable on July 30 of each year. These

payments commenced July 30, 2004, and continue until maturity.

Set out below is a comparison of the amounts that would be reported if long-term debt amounts

were reported at fair values. Fair values were based on quoted market rates for GTAA bonds as at

December 31, 2009:

(in thousands)                                                                                               2009                                               2008

                                                                                                    Book                   Fair                   Book                     Fair
                                                                                                  Value                 Value                   Value                  Value

                                                                                                        $                       $                         $                         $

Long-term debt                                                             7,880,550         8,426,036           7,512,173           7,301,950 

With the exception of Series 2007-2, interest is payable semi-annually from the Interest Payable

Commencement Date, based on fixed rates. For Series 2007-2, interest is payable quarterly from the

Interest Payable Commencement Date, based on floating rates. 

With the exception of Series 2006-1 and Series 2007-2 medium term notes, which are not

redeemable, the notes are redeemable in whole or in part at the option of the GTAA at any time at a

redemption price based on yields over Government of Canada bonds with similar terms to maturity. 

Credit Facility

The GTAA maintains a credit facility with a syndicate of six Canadian banks. The credit facility is

secured by a $550 million pledge bond (Series 1997-A) issued pursuant to the Trust Indenture.

Indebtedness under the credit facility ranks pari passu with other indebtedness issued under the Trust

Indenture. Under this credit facility, the GTAA is provided with a $500 million facility for general

corporate purposes and capital expenditures, and a $50 million facility for interest rate and foreign

exchange hedging activities. The facility matures on November 22, 2012, and can be extended

annually for an additional year with the lenders’ consent. 
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As at December 31, 2009, $2.25 million was drawn on the $500 million facility by way of a letter

of credit (2008 – $2.25 million) (see Note 19, Commitments and contingent liabilities). No amounts

were drawn against the $50.0 million facility (2008 – $nil). Indebtedness under the credit facility

bears interest at rates that vary with the lenders’ prime rate, Bankers’ Acceptance rates and LIBOR, as

appropriate. If funds were drawn on the facility in the year, interest rates would have ranged from

0.59% to 3.50% (2008 – 1.97% to 6.00%).

14. Leases

Capital Leases

The GTAA leases certain equipment as part of its operations. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis

and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments. 

Amounts payable under these capital leases are as follows:

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

2010                                                                                                                                             390                           838 

2011                                                                                                                                             173                         517 

                                                                                                                                            563                       1,355 

Less: interest included in minimum lease payments                                                                   (23)                           (59)

Present value of minimum lease payments                                                                                 540                       1,296 

Included in the balance sheet as:

Current liabilities                                                                                                                       376                           802 

Long-term debt                                                                                                                        164                           494 

                                                                                                                                              540                       1,296 

As at December 31, 2009, the effective interest rates of the capital leases range from 0.0% to 7.8%

(2008 – 0.0% to 7.8%). 

Operating Leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, excluding payments

under the Ground Lease is as follows:

(in thousands)

                                                                                                                                                                                        $

2010                                                                                                                                                                             3,828 

Thereafter                                                                                                                                                                             –

                                                                                                                                                                              3,828 
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Ground Lease

The GTAA’s commitment in respect of annual ground lease airport rent based on the amendment

signed in 2008 (see Note 3, Airport subject to ground lease), including ground rent deferral

repayments, is estimated based on GTAA’s current forecast of expected revenues to be approximately

$128.2 million for the year ending 2010, $135.1 million for the year ending 2011, $139.2 million

for the year ending 2012, $136.9 million for the year ending 2013 and $138.2 million for the year

ending 2014. The lease continues until 2054 and is subject to actual revenues in each year.

15. Interest and Financing Costs, Net

Interest and financing costs for long-term debt and bank facilities, net of interest earned on the Debt

Service Reserve Fund, reserves and other funds and capitalized interest is as follows:

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Interest and financing costs incurred                                                                                   442,039                   495,179 

Less:

Interest earned on the Debt Service Reserve Fund                                                         (3,218)                   (15,768)

Interest earned on reserves and other funds                                                                   (4,044)                   (12,203)

Capitalized interest                                                                                                            (20,020)                   (14,707)

                                                                                                                                      414,757                   452,501

Included in interest and financing costs incurred is a $0.4 million positive fair value adjustment and a

$0.4 million gain on redemption during the year (2008 – $52.7 million impairment) relating to the

GTAA’s ABCP holdings (see Note 6, Reserve and other funds).

16. Employee Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The GTAA maintains three pension plans with defined benefit provisions. One of these plans is for

former Transport Canada employees who were eligible to elect to transfer their pension credits to the

GTAA plan.

The GTAA measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for

accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the

pension plans for funding purposes was as of January 1, 2009, and the next required valuation will be

as of January 1, 2010.
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Aggregate information about the GTAA’s defined benefit pension plans as at December 31 is

as follows:

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Accrued Benefit Obligation

Balance, beginning of year                                                                                                     80,178                   103,586 

Actuarial loss (gain)                                                                                                                 12,451                   (31,331)

Current service cost                                                                                                                   1,613                       3,556 

Interest cost                                                                                                                               6,018                       5,858 

Benefits paid                                                                                                                             (3,524)                     (2,256)

Employee contributions                                                                                                               828                         765 

Plan amendments                                                                                                                         138                               –

Curtailment loss                                                                                                                             478                               –

Balance, end of year                                                                                                               98,180                     80,178 

Plan Assets

Fair value, beginning of year                                                                                               102,369                   105,789 

Employee contributions                                                                                                               828                         765 

Employer contributions                                                                                                             6,679                     14,728 

Actual return on plan assets                                                                                                   13,425                   (16,657)

Benefits paid                                                                                                                             (3,524)                     (2,256)

Fair value, end of year                                                                                                           119,777                   102,369 

Funded status – surplus                                                                                                         21,597                     22,191 

Unamortized net actuarial loss                                                                                                 6,348                         834 

Unamortized past service costs                                                                                                     69                         270 

Unamortized transitional obligation                                                                                              72                         100 

Accrued Benefit Asset                                                                                                             28,086                     23,395

As at December 31, 2009, each of the GTAA’s defined benefit pension plans were in a surplus position.

One plan was in a surplus position of $16.2 million (2008 – $16.3 million), with an accrued

obligation of $85.9 million (2008 – $69.0 million) and a fair value of plan assets of $102.1 million

(2008 – $85.3 million). The other plan was in a surplus position of $5.4 million (2008 – $5.9 million),

with an accrued obligation of $12.3 million (2008 – $11.2 million) and a fair value of plan assets of

$17.7 million (2008 – $17.1 million).

During the year, as a result of certain restructuring activities (see Note 23, Restructuring charges),

the GTAA recorded a curtailment charge of $0.5 million, included in salaries, wages and benefits in

the statement of operations.
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The GTAA’s net defined benefit pension plan expense is as follows:

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Current service cost                                                                                                                 1,613                       3,556 

Interest cost                                                                                                                               6,018                       5,858 

Actual return on plan assets                                                                                                 (13,425)                     16,657 

Actuarial loss (gain)                                                                                                                 12,451                   (31,331)

Plan amendments                                                                                                                         138                               –

Curtailment loss                                                                                                                           478                               –

Costs arising in the period                                                                                                       7,273                     (5,260)

Difference between costs arising in the period and costs recognized in respect of:

Return on plan assets                                                                                                           6,703                   (23,147)

Actuarial (gain) loss                                                                                                           (12,217)                     31,714 

Past service costs                                                                                                                   201                         273 

Transitional obligations                                                                                                             28                           19 

Net defined benefit pension plan expense                                                                             1,988                       3,599 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2009, consisting of cash contributed by the

GTAA to its funded pension plans and payments made to the defined contribution plans was

$9.2 million (2008 – $16.8 million).

The GTAA’s plan assets consist of:

                                                                                                                                          Percentage of Plan Assets

Asset Category                                                                                                                             2009                         2008

Equity securities                                                                                                                            56%                           62%

Fixed income                                                                                                                                 43%                           33%

Cash                                                                                                                                               1%                             5%

Total                                                                                                                                           100%                         100%

The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the GTAA’s accrued defined benefit pension

plan obligations are as follows (weighted-average assumptions as at December 31, 2009):

                                                                                                                                                        2009                         2008

Discount rate                                                                                                                             6.75%                       7.50%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets                                                                  6.48%                       5.96%

Rate of compensation increase                                                                                                4.00%                       3.50%

Defined Contribution Pension Plan Expense

The GTAA maintains four pension plans with defined contribution provisions providing pension

benefits to certain of its employees. The net expense for the defined contribution pension plans in

2009 was $2.8 million (2008 – $2.2 million).
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The GTAA’s contribution to the registered defined contribution pension plans is a maximum of

6% of the employee’s gross earnings. For designated employees of one supplemental plan, the GTAA’s

contribution equals 16% of the employee’s gross earnings less amounts already contributed to the

plan by the employee and the GTAA. 

17. Taxation

The GTAA is exempt from federal and provincial income tax and Ontario capital tax.

The GTAA is exempt from real property tax under the Assessment Act (Ontario). 

However, the GTAA is required to pay each of the Cities of Toronto and Mississauga an amount as

calculated in accordance with regulations under the Assessment Act (Ontario) as a payment-in-lieu of

real property taxes. 

18. Related Party Transactions

Directors’ fees expense for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $0.8 million (2008 – $0.9 million).

19. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 

Capital Commitments

In connection with the operation and development of the Airport, the GTAA had capital

commitments outstanding at December 31, 2009, of approximately $113.4 million (2008 –

$159.8 million).

Letters of Credit

A letter of credit for $2.25 million was outstanding at December 31, 2009 (see Note 13, Credit

facility and long-term debt), relating to the GTAA’s Clean Energy Supply contract with the Ontario

Power Authority. The letter of credit expires April 11, 2010.

Environmental

The GTAA is committed to ensuring that activities undertaken at the Airport are carried out in an

environmentally responsible manner, in compliance with applicable environmental laws and

regulations, and with sensitivity to community and public concerns. 

The GTAA performs environmental assessments as part of its ongoing environmental

management program and has achieved ISO 14001 certification.

Roadway Infrastructure

In connection with receiving a deferral for the payment of land transfer tax to the Province of

Ontario until 2011 (see Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt), the GTAA agreed to participate

in the development of highway infrastructure and transit improvements related to the Airport. The

GTAA has undertaken significant transportation infrastructure work and has met this requirement. 
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Boeing Lands

In July 2001, the GTAA and Boeing Canada Operations Ltd. (formerly Boeing Toronto, Ltd.)

(“Boeing”) signed an agreement, amended in June 2002, under which Boeing agreed to sell to the

GTAA 45.73 hectares of land adjoining the Airport property for a total of $30.0 million. These lands

will be transferred by Boeing in stages. The first parcel representing 16.1 hectares of land was

conveyed on May 29, 2006 and the remaining lands will be conveyed from time to time over a

maximum period of 20 years from that date. While the GTAA retains use of the land, title to the first

parcel has been transferred to the federal government as required under the terms of the Ground

Lease. Deposits totalling $4.7 million, which are recorded in work in process, have been made and

will be applied to the purchase price of the future parcels. 

Insurance

The Government of Canada has issued an Order in Council providing full indemnity to the Canadian

aviation industry for any coverage that was lost due to the cancellation of war and terrorism

insurance. The Order in Council has been approved for 2009. Official declarations of its status occur

every 90 days to account for the potential of change in the insurance industry. As part of the original

Order in Council of September 2001, the GTAA was required to purchase a $50.0 million primary

layer of war and terrorist coverage from the commercial markets. This coverage is in place for 2010.

Cogeneration Facility

The GTAA has entered into certain contracts in order to secure the supply and delivery of natural gas

necessary for anticipated future operations of the Cogeneration facility. Under these contracts, the

GTAA will be required to make payments relating to both the delivery of natural gas based on

standard rate agreements and the cost of natural gas as determined by market rates. The GTAA has

also entered into a delivery contract that establishes a maximum volume of natural gas inventory that

the GTAA is permitted to maintain, as of the anniversary date. The GTAA has the option to dispose

of natural gas in excess of this maximum volume either through consumption or through the sale of

natural gas to third parties.

Contingent Liabilities

The GTAA is subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time which arise in the normal

course of business. Where appropriate, the GTAA has recorded provisions or reserves while it actively

pursues its position. Where it is the opinion of management that the ultimate outcome of these

matters will not have a material effect upon the GTAA’s financial position, results of operations, or

cash flows, no provisions have been recorded.
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Air France

Subsequent to the Air France incident on August 2, 2005, the GTAA, together with other parties, is a

defendant in ten lawsuits, including a class action lawsuit involving most passengers and their family

members. In May 2009, the defendants Air France, Airbus, the GTAA and BF Goodrich reached a

settlement with the plaintiffs in six of the lawsuits including the class action lawsuit and the

settlement was presented to the court for approval. In December 2009, the court approved the

portion of the settlement relating to Air France, Airbus and BF Goodrich and is anticipated to

approve the portion of the settlement involving the GTAA shortly. If the court approves the portion

of the settlement involving the GTAA, there will be four lawsuits remaining that involve the GTAA.

The GTAA’s insurers are defending the GTAA in all of the lawsuits. It is the opinion of management

that the GTAA’s financial exposure is limited to its insurance deductible. 

20. Guarantees 

In the normal course of operations, the GTAA provides indemnification agreements to counterparties

in a wide variety of transactions such as contracts for goods and services, maintenance agreements,

design-build contracts, construction contracts, and information technology agreements. These

indemnification agreements require the GTAA to indemnify the counterparties in respect of costs

incurred as a result of certain changes in the underlying nature of the contracts (including, without

limitation, changes in laws, delays caused by the GTAA, pre-existing environmental conditions) and

in respect of costs incurred as a result of certain litigation claims that may result from the transaction

(such as, by way of example, patent infringement or personal injury and property damage due to the

GTAA’s negligence). The terms of the indemnification agreements will vary based on the contract. The

nature of the indemnification agreements prevents management from making a reasonable estimate of

the maximum potential amount the GTAA may be required to pay to or expend on behalf of such

counterparties because such limits are most commonly not set out in the said agreements and the

events in question are themselves highly contingent and variable in nature. Management attempts to

limit its liability in respect of the indemnifications provided to such counterparties through the

purchase of liability and property insurance and the allocation of risk to other contractors.

21. Financial Instruments

Fair Value Hierarchy 

Fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet must be categorized in accordance with the

following levels:

(a) Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

(b) Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 such as quoted

prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar

assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can

be corroborated by observable market data; 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GTAA 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 97

GTAA_Financials:GTAA_Fins  29/04/10  7:14 AM  Page 97



(c) Level 3 – Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

Reserve and other funds, other investments, and security deposits are categorized as Level 1 as the

GTAA uses quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities to fair value this group

except for ABCP holdings within reserves and other funds and the OPA derivative which are

categorized as Level 3 as no observable market exists for these financial assets. See Note 6, Reserve

and other funds, and Note 10, Other assets, for additional information on the valuation techniques

used to fair value these items. 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments in fiscal 2009 that are measured

at fair value on recurring basis:

                                                                                                                                                                                                      OPA
(in thousands)                                                                                                    ABCP               Derivative                       Total

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Balance, beginning of year                                                                    92,257                     41,201                   133,458 

Fair value adjustments included in statement of operations                   447                       6,997                       7,444 

Redemptions and cash receipts                                                             (9,828)                     (6,237)                   (16,065)

Balance, end of year                                                                               82,876                     41,961                   124,837 

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. 

Risk Management 

In the normal course of business, the GTAA is exposed to a number of financial risks that can affect

its operating performance. The GTAA’s overall risk management program seeks to minimize potential

adverse effects on the GTAA’s financial performance.

The GTAA’s central treasury function is responsible for the procurement of the Corporation’s

capital resources and for the management of financial risk. All treasury operations are conducted

within policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors and are within the requirements set

out in the Trust Indenture dated December 2, 1997. Compliance with these policies is monitored by

the regular reporting of treasury activities to the Audit Committee of the Board.

The GTAA’s operating activities result in financial risks that may arise from changes in market

risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Market Risk

(a) Interest rate risk

The GTAA’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its floating rate bank indebtedness and medium

term notes as described in Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt. It should be noted that the

majority of GTAA’s debt is fixed rate debt and therefore changes in interest rates do not significantly

impact interest payments but may impact the fair value of this debt. An increase of 100 bps in

Bankers’ Acceptance interest rates applied to the average floating rate bank indebtedness and medium 
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term note outstanding during 2009 would have increased interest expense by approximately

$3.6 million. The Debt Service Reserve Fund for bank indebtedness is adjusted annually on

December 2 based on the prevailing Bankers’ Acceptance rate.

In addition to the floating rate debt discussed above, the GTAA also has exposure to floating rate

assets through its short-term investments in reserves and other funds (see Note 6, Reserve and other

funds). Movements in the reference rates for floating rate debt and assets are highly correlated.

Movements in interest rates which have the effect of increasing borrowing costs will also increase

interest income from the floating rate assets. To the extent that the amount of floating rate debt is

similar to the amount of floating rate assets, the effect of the changes in interest rates on the GTAA

would be mitigated.

(b) Commodity price risk

The GTAA’s exposure to commodity price risk relates to its Clean Energy Supply Contract with the

Ontario Power Authority. The impact of a 1% increase in the 2009 average price of electricity

holding natural gas prices constant would result in a $1.5 million decrease in the fair value of the

OPA derivative. The impact of a 1% increase in the 2009 average price of natural gas holding the

price of electricity constant would result in a $1.0 million increase in the fair value of the OPA

derivative.

(c) Foreign currency rate risk

The GTAA undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the

U.S. dollar. The GTAA’s exposure, however, to any foreign currency risk is not significant.

Credit Risk

The GTAA is subject to credit risk through its financial assets. The GTAA performs ongoing credit

valuations of these balances and maintains valuation allowances for potential credit loss.
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The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by

reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about the customer. 

(in thousands)                                                                                                                                       2009                         2008

                                                                                                                                                      $                               $

Accounts receivable

Customers with external credit rating:

AA+                                                                                                                                           585                               –

AA                                                                                                                                         2,439                               –

AA-                                                                                                                                                 –                           864 

A+                                                                                                                                                   –                           910 

BBB                                                                                                                                           736                         883 

BBB-                                                                                                                                         208                         892 

BB-                                                                                                                                            448                               –

B                                                                                                                                           1,375                       7,927 

B-                                                                                                                                           1,780                       1,398 

CCC+                                                                                                                                    4,040                               –

CCC                                                                                                                                          309                               –

                                                                                                                                        11,920                     12,874 

Customers without external credit rating:

Existing customers with no history of default                                                             28,161                     32,803 

                                                                                                                                        40,081                     45,677 

Cash and cash equivalents

A-1+                                                                                                                                  310,625                     68,000 

A-1                                                                                                                                     241,178                   125,911 

                                                                                                                                      551,803                   193,911 

Reserve and other funds

AA-                                                                                                                                                 –                   120,353 

A+                                                                                                                                                 –                     68,339 

A-1+                                                                                                                                  591,250                   540,784 

A-1                                                                                                                                     326,265                   103,330 

ABCP (see Note 6, Reserve and other funds)                                                                  82,876                     65,290 

                                                                                                                                    1,000,391                   898,096 

Other investments

ABCP (see Note 7, Other investments)                                                                                       –                     27,040 

OPA derivative

AA+                                                                                                                                     41,961                               –

AA-                                                                                                                                                 –                     41,201 

(see Note 10, Other assets)                                                                                                           41,961                     41,201
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None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated during the year with the

exception of ABCP (see Note 6, Reserve and other funds).

The GTAA derives a substantial portion of its operating revenues from air carriers through

landing fees and general terminal charges. There is a concentration of service with two air carriers

which represents approximately 49% of these fees and 32% of the account receivable balance at

December 31, 2009. 

Liquidity Risk

The GTAA manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash, reserves and available credit

facilities. Quarterly cash flow projections are prepared and reviewed by the Audit Committee to

ensure a sufficient continuity of funding. To maintain a flexible program, debt maturities are spread

over a range of dates thereby ensuring that the Corporation is not exposed to excessive refinancing

risk in any one year. The GTAA maintains a line of credit and a capital markets platform to meets

cash needs as debt maturities occur (See Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt and Note 22,

Capital risk management).

The table below analyses the GTAA’s financial liabilities by relevant maturity groupings based on

the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It does not include

pension and post retirement liabilities as maturities are variable based on timing of individuals

leaving the plan. The table has been prepared based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows based

on the earliest date on which the GTAA can be required to pay. It includes both principal and interest

cash flows.

                                                                                              December 31, 2009

                                                                                                        Less than             1 month to                 1 year to
(in thousands)                                                              1 month               12 months                    5 years               Thereafter

                                                                                        $                               $                               $                               $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           47,203                 25,092                             –                             –

Province of Ontario                                                       –                             –                   19,200                     4,800 

Long-term debt                                                     50,051             1,365,840             3,728,746             8,060,476

                                                                                97,254             1,390,932             3,747,946             8,065,276

                                                                                                December 31, 2008

                                                                                                          Less than               1 month to                   1 year to
(in thousands)                                                               1 month                12 months                      5 years                Thereafter

                                                                                        $                               $                               $                               $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities             43,269                     41,315                               –                               –

Province of Ontario                                                       –                               –                     14,400                       9,600 

Long-term debt                                                     50,400                   643,873                 4,294,739                 7,956,590

                                                                                93,669                   685,188                 4,309,139                 7,966,190
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Additional disclosure about the GTAA’s credit facility, long-term debt, and OPA derivative can be

found in Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt and Note 10, Other assets.

22. Capital Risk Management

The GTAA defines its capital as long-term debt, including its current portion, borrowings, if any,

under the GTAA’s credit facility (see Note 13, Credit facility and long-term debt) cash and cash

equivalents, short-term investments and reserves and other funds.

The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to:

(a) Maintain a capital structure and an appropriate rating that provides financing options to the

Corporation when a financing or a refinancing need arises to ensure access to capital, on

commercially reasonable terms, without exceeding its debt capacity or resulting in a

downgrade to the credit ratings of the existing indebtedness;

(b) Maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations,

including debt servicing payments; and

(c) Satisfy covenants set out in the Trust Indenture.

The GTAA is a non-share corporation and, accordingly, is funded through operating revenues,

AIF revenue, reserve funds, the debt capital markets and its syndicated bank credit facility.

Aeronautical charges are set each year to cover the projected operating costs, including debt service

and reserve requirements, after consideration of the projected air traffic and passenger activity and

non-aeronautical revenues. Consistent with its residual approach, funds generated by the GTAA are

used to cover costs within its mandate.

As at December 31, 2009, the net deficiency amounted to $418.3 million (2008 – $398.9 million).

The GTAA has established, within its net assets (deficiency), funds for operational requirements and

debt-related obligations. The net assets (deficiency) consist of three components: externally restricted,

internally restricted and unrestricted funds.

Externally Restricted

A portion of the net assets has been allocated for operational purposes pursuant to the Operating and

Maintenance Reserve Fund, the Renewal and Replacement Reserve Fund and the Debt Service Fund –

Principal (see Note 6, Reserve and other funds) set out in the Trust Indenture (see Note 13, Credit

facility and long-term debt).

Internally Restricted

A portion of the fees that have been collected in revenue has been allocated for capital projects and

for debt-related obligations of notional principal and debt service coverage requirements (see Note 6,

Reserve and other funds). In conjunction with the airport improvement fee agreement with the

airlines, a portion of the fee that has been collected has been allocated to a reserve fund. The 
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internally restricted net assets are held in separate investment accounts by the GTAA and are

disbursed in accordance with its policies or commitments for these funds.

Unrestricted

Unrestricted net assets (deficiency) represents the cumulative revenue under expenses, including

amortization, interest expense incurred and required to fund the Debt Service Fund – Interest, and the

cumulative unrealized changes in net assets, which remains after externally and internally restricted

reserve fund cash commitments described above have been made. 

Capital Markets Platform

As a corporation without share capital, the GTAA’s ongoing capital requirements are financed

through the issuances of debt. The GTAA developed a financing program referred to as the Capital

Markets Platform, capable of accommodating a variety of corporate debt instruments. All

indebtedness incurred under the Capital Markets Platform is secured under the Trust Indenture dated

December 2, 1997, and supplemented from time to time, which establishes common security and a set

of common covenants by the GTAA for the benefit of its lenders. The security comprises an

assignment of the revenues of the GTAA, a specific charge on certain funds, reserve funds and

accounts, an unregistered first leasehold mortgage of the GTAA’s leasehold interest in the Airport and

a guarantee and related collateral security of subsidiaries as designated from time to time. 

The Debt Service Reserve Funds are funded from the net proceeds of each bond or medium term

note issuance (See Note 6, Reserve and other funds). The covenants that proceeds the GTAA must

meet include two specific coverage tests for operating expenses and debt payments. The operating

covenant states that the total revenue must at least cover all operating expenses, including interest

and financing costs. The debt service covenant states that the net revenues, which may include

available credit, must be at least 1.25 times the total interest and financing costs, including notional

principal. At December 31, 2009, the GTAA was in compliance with the above covenants and was

not in default of the Trust Indenture as defined therein.
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23. Restructuring Charges

During fiscal 2009, the GTAA implemented a restructuring plan to align its cost structure to the

current economic and market conditions. Under that plan, the GTAA recorded a charge of

$7.7 million relating to voluntary retirement packages and severance expenses for employees (2008 –

$0.8 million). These charges are included in the salaries, wages and benefits expense in the statement

of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009. As at December 31, 2009, the liability for

remaining severance within accounts payable and accrued liabilities amounted to $7.9 million. 

The following table summarizes changes in the restructuring accrual since December 31, 2008:

                                                                                                        Beginning                                                                                         End
(in thousands)                                                                 of year               Additions               Payments                    of year

                                                                                        $                               $                               $                               $

Restructuring accrual                                                 760                       7,654                         (556)                     7,858

24. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current period’s presentation.
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Subsection 9.01.07, paragraphs (a) to (g) of the Ground Lease requires the GTAA to publish an

annual report that discusses the matters listed below.

(a) Audited Financial Statements

The Auditors’ Report and the audited financial statements are found on pages 64 to 104 and the

summary of affairs (Management’s Discussion and Analysis or “MD&A”) is found on pages 34 to 62

of the Annual Report.

(b) Report on the Business Plan and Objectives for 2009

The projected cash flows in any year constitute the business plan for that year. The business plan

for 2009 is the 2009 summary of projected cash flows which is found below in Paragraph C

(the “2009 Business Plan”). A report on the GTAA’s performance relating to the 2009 Business Plan

is discussed in the MD&A and in Paragraph C, below.

Further, in the Annual Reports for the previous five years, comparisons to the respective business

plans and the overall corporate performance are discussed in the respective MD&A and Ground

Lease Disclosures. 

(c) Variances and Corrective Measures with Respect to the Report on the 2009 Business Plan

The following table provides a comparison between the 2009 actual operating results and the 2009

Business Plan. The results are presented on a modified cash basis consistent with the projected

summary of cash flows and the GTAA’s rate setting methodology. This presentation does not include

certain non-cash items such as amortization of property and equipment, but does include other items

such as the funding of reserve accounts, notional principal, and the payment of deferred ground rent

to the federal government, which are not included as expenses in the statement of operations.
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                                                                                                                      2009                         2009                                 
(millions of dollars)                                                                                             Actual           Business Plan                   Variance

                                                                                                                    $                               $                               $

Revenues

Landing fees                                                                                         415.3                       399.7                         15.6 

General terminal charges                                                                   170.8                       163.0                           7.8 

Airport improvement fee                                                                    262.3                       268.5                           (6.2)

Car parking and ground transportation                                            117.5                       125.8                           (8.3)

Concessions, rentals and other                                                          149.3                       147.5                           1.8 

                                                                                                      1,115.2                     1,104.5                         10.7 

Expenses

Ground rent                                                                                         142.9                       142.9                               –

Goods and services                                                                             224.6                       252.0                         (27.4)

Salaries, wages and benefits                                                              123.9                       108.5                         15.4 

PILT                                                                                                         25.0                         25.1                           (0.1)

Debt service                                                                                         545.0                       570.8                         (25.8)

                                                                                                      1,061.4                     1,099.3                         (37.9)

Debt Service Coverage                                                                         12.8                         12.8                               –

Fund Deposits                                                                                         2.3                           (7.6)                           9.9 

Net Cash Surplus (Deficit)                                                                     38.7                               –                         38.7 

A detailed discussion of the 2009 financial results is contained in the MD&A. 

Total revenues were $10.7 million over the Business Plan. Maximum Takeoff Weight (“MTOW”)

and the number of arrived seats, which are the basis for the calculation of landing fees and general

terminal charges respectively, were above projections as was total passenger activity. Effective June 1,

2009 the AIF for originating passengers was increased from $20 to $25. Due to advance ticket sales

the new rates did not apply to all passengers traveling after the effective date. AIF revenue was

$6.2 million below plan due to fewer passengers paying the new rate than expected. Car parking and

ground transportation revenues were $8.3 million under the 2009 Business Plan due to lower than

anticipated usage of the parking facilities as a result of the economic climate that prevailed throughout

2009. Concession, rental and other revenues were largely in line with the 2009 Business Plan.

Total operating expenses, including debt service, were $37.9 million below expectations. A

number of cost saving initiatives, including service level adjustments and contract renegotiations

resulted in goods and services being $27.4 million below the 2009 Business Plan. Salaries, wages and

benefits were $15.4 million above the 2009 Business Plan largely due to the costs associated with an

early retirement program and a corporate reorganization which were not anticipated in the 2009

Business Plan. As well certain benefits related to severance payments under the terms of the GTAA’s

collective bargaining agreement were recognized in 2009 but not included in the Business Plan. Debt

service expense was $25.8 million below the 2009 Business Plan due to lower interest rates than

anticipated as well as higher capitalized interest in the period. 
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The deposits to the debt service coverage fund, and the operations and maintenance fund were

largely as projected. The better than planned results for the year allowed for a deposit into the AIF

reserve fund instead of the draw on the fund that was anticipated in the 2009 Business Plan. 

None of the variances to the 2009 Business Plan discussed above were of a nature that caused the

GTAA to take specific corrective actions.

(d) Summary of the Five-Year Business Plan

The five-year Business Plan (2010 to 2014) is based on assumptions underlying the GTAA’s

assessment of various external factors. During 2010, the GTAA will continue to focus on managing

expenses and encouraging new aeronautical activity as the economic recovery is expected to be weak.

This will include a careful review of operating expenses, continued focus on maximizing non-

aeronautical revenue opportunities, and incentives for new airline activity. Capital projects will

continue to be reviewed in light of passenger demand and only undertaken where warranted.

The economic and operating assumptions used to develop the 2010 Business Plan include:
> GDP growth of 2.5%;
> CPI rate of 2.0%;
> 30.4 million total passengers;
> Landed MTOW of 12.2 million tonnes; and
> 20.0 million landed seats.

Future capital development at the Airport includes the completion of the Terminal 3

Redevelopment project, the Terminal 3 Master Plan and the Post-ADP development project. These

projects have been approved by the GTAA Board of Directors. The GTAA also anticipates spending

$50.0 million to $54.0 million per year on operations, maintenance and restoration capital projects

over the Business Plan period. In addition to these expenditures, the GTAA has identified a number

of projects that are anticipated to be required to meet growing passenger demand. These projects are

subject to approval by the Board of Directors or management, as appropriate, before they are

undertaken. In total, the GTAA expects to spend approximately $944.3 million on capital programs

over the forecast period. The timing and amount of these expenditures are subject to change as

demand and operating conditions evolve and plans are finalized.

Over the forecast horizon, the primary drivers for the GTAA’s Business Plan are the long-term

growth in Airport activity and inflation. Specific revenue or cost containment initiatives carried out

over this period may also impact revenues and expenses. The forecast average annual passenger

growth rate from 2010 to 2014 is 3.6%. Aircraft movements are expected to grow at an average 3.6%

rate over the forecast period while landed MTOW is expected to grow by 2.3% over the same period.

The projected Business Plan includes principal repayment amounts, but does not include

amortization. The reader is cautioned that some assumptions used may not materialize and

unanticipated events and circumstances may occur subsequent to the date that this summary was
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prepared. Therefore, the actual results achieved on a cash basis during the period may vary and the

variations may be material. For a more complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties and caution

regarding forward-looking statements, see the MD&A and the Annual Information Form, copies of

which may be accessed at www.sedar.com (“SEDAR”).

Projected Business Plan
(in millions)                                                                           2010                 2011                2012                 2013                 2014

                                                                                  $                       $                      $                       $                       $

Revenues                                                                                                                                                                                 

Aeronautical Revenues                                         522.5               559.0               580.3                527.4               507.6

Airport Improvement Fees, net                           287.8               285.5               281.0               291.1               301.0

Non-aeronautical revenues                                  275.5               286.7               304.4               326.7               345.8

                                                                        1,085.8             1,131.2            1,165.7             1,145.2             1,154.4

Expenses                                                                                                                                                                                 

Ground rent                                                           128.2               135.1               139.2                136.9               138.2

Operating and Maintenance Expenses               346.8               354.0               359.3               362.9               366.6

Real property and payments-in-lieu of taxes         26.3                 27.3                 27.4                 28.6                 29.9

Debt service                                                           574.1               606.8               584.9               588.4               617.6

                                                                        1,075.4             1,123.2            1,110.8             1,116.8             1,152.3

Reserve funds                                                                10.4                   8.0                 54.9                  28.4                   2.1

Net Cash Surplus (Deficit)                                                 –                       –                      –                       –                       –

Projected Capital Expenditures
(in millions)                                                   2010                 2011                 2012                2013                 2014                Total

                                                          $                       $                       $                      $                       $                       $

Operating, Maintenance and 

Restoration Capital Projects          50.0                 51.0                 52.0                 53.1                  54.1               260.2

T3 Redevelopment                                 8.0                       –                       –                      –                       –                   8.0

T3 Master Plan                                           –                       –                 12.7                 36.4                  37.8                 86.9

Post ADP & Other Development        16.5                 44.1                 47.8                 59.5                421.3               589.2

Total                                                     74.5                 95.1               112.5               149.0                513.2               944.3
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(e) Remuneration to Board and Salary of Senior Officers

For 2009, the Chair of the Board of Directors received remuneration in the amount of $135,000,

while the other Directors received remuneration ranging from $15,435 to $64,500. During the

calendar year of 2009, the Board of Directors reduced their quarterly retainer fees by 10% from those

paid to them in 2008. This pertained to the retainer fees, not the meeting fees or the Committee

Chairs’ fees. For 2009, salaries for the Corporation’s Senior Officers ranged from $180,000 to

$345,060. Senior Officers are also eligible for a performance-based bonus. 

Additional information regarding the remuneration paid to the Directors and the Senior Officers

is available in the Annual Information Form, which is available on SEDAR.

(f) Ethical Business Conduct

In December 2006, the Board of Directors approved a new “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics”

(the “Code”). The Code complies with the requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators’

National Policy 58-201 and represents a comprehensive approach to addressing, among other

matters, conflicts of interest and promoting fair, honest and ethical behaviour by all GTAA Directors,

officers, employees and contracted staff. A copy of the Code may be accessed at www.sedar.com.

The Board monitors compliance with the Code and requires that each Director and officer sign an

Annual Declaration advising that the Director or officer has read the Code and either declares that

the Director or officer is in compliance or not in compliance with the Code and to declare the reasons

for the non-compliance. In addition, the Board has implemented an “Ethics Line” which permits the

anonymous reporting of an employee, officer or Director’s unethical behaviour.

All Directors and officers indicated that they were in compliance with the Code.

(g) Report on Contracts over $92,000 Not Tendered

The bylaws of the GTAA, the Public Accountability Principles for Canadian Airport Authorities and

the Ground Lease provide that all contracts in excess of $92,000 (as adjusted annually by CPI) must

be awarded through a public tendering process, except as may be otherwise determined by the Board

of Directors having regard for what may be efficient and practicable. The contracts that are not

awarded through a public tendering process must be described in the GTAA’s Annual Report. 

There are a number of contracts that are included in this table, due to the fact that the GTAA

engaged in a significant cost reduction exercise with a number of its vendors. As a result of these

negotiations, certain existing contracts were increased in exchange for rate reductions and other

considerations.
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Reason for
Contract Award without
Value Range Contractor Description of Contract Public Tender

$92,000 – $174,000 Pyramid Traffic Inc. Traffic Counts and Automatic A
2018954 Traffic Recording

Robert Cary & Associates Inc. Audit and Assessment of the A
2023890 Cogeneration Plant

Watson Wyatt Canada ULC Internal Communication Consulting A
2025335

CS Stars LLC Corporate Risk Information System B
2029051

Keith Consolidated Industries, Mobile Bridge Adaptors (40) B
Inc. 2028979

Medcontrol Consultants Inc. Medical Consultant Services for GTAA B
2028526 Fire and Emergency Services

DiiO, LLC Web-Based Subscription to Airline  A
2019921 Subscription to Airline Schedule 

and Passenger Database

$92,000 – $174,000 Aitken Leadership Group David Aitken’s Various Consulting Services D
2029322 Including Leadership Development and 

Coaching Sessions (as and when requested basis)

Rocket Software Inc. Annual Software Maintenance and Support C
2024676

Black and McDonald Limited Emergency Cleaning and Repair of Sewage D
2029258 Pump Stations in T1 Parking Garage

Kyle V. Davy Consulting GTAA Leadership Development and Strategic D
2029735 Planning Facilitation Services (as and when 

requested basis)

PPM 2000 Inc “Perspective” Security Incident Management C
2020937 System Maintenance and Upgrade 

Maintenance and Upgrade Services

ARC Business Solutions Inc. Consolidation of Computer Files on C
2029107 Single Data Base Technology

Frontage Solutions USA Inc. Support of HEAT System Used by B
2010306 IT&T Service Desk for Incident Management

Deloitte & Touche LLP Implementation of International Financial A
2027040 Reporting Standards (IFRS) Conversion

$175,000 -$274,000 Glidepath Systems Ltd. Reconfiguration of TX2 Baggage Subsystem B
2026487 at T3

696266 Alberta Ltd. 2028107 Explosive Detection Canine Training Course A

Glidepath Systems Ltd. Baggage Handling System Upgrades, C
2028777 Performance/Capacity Improvements at T1 and T3

Vipond Systems Group Emergency Maintenance and Repair Services C
2029145 to GTAA’s Services to GTAA’s Notifier Fire 

Alarm System
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Reason for
Contract Award without
Value Range Contractor Description of Contract Public Tender

$175,000 -$274,000 Quantum Secure Inc. Support and Maintenance of Security Software B
2029581

ACI World Headquarters ASQ Airport Industry Customer Satisfaction B
Program 2015624 Benchmarking Program

$175,000 – $274,000 Siemens Building Technologies Support Services for Fire Alarm Systems C
Ltd. 2029144 (as and when requested basis)

Lochard Corporation – Software and Hardware Service Agreement for C
A Division of Bruel & Kjaer Noise Monitoring and Flight Tracking System
2029182

ND Graphics Inc. Gerber Printing Products (as and when C
2029618 requested basis)

Oracle Corporation Canada Perpetual Licence and Support and C
Inc. 2024729 Maintenance for Budgeting Software

$275,000 – $374,000 Accenture Inc. Assessment of Opportunity to Reduce IT&T Costs D
2028438

ACS Transport Solutions, Inc. Upgrade to Parking Revenue Control Systems C
2028606

SMV Architects Gate 193 Extension – Design and Engineering B
2029524 Work for Trans-border Facility at T1

NRB Inc. T1 Gate 193 Extension – Design and Construction B
2029856

SITA Agreement for the Provision of  C
2030308 Telecommunication Services (Messaging Software)

$375,000 – $474,000 Dufferin Construction Company Repair of Cargo Aprons D
2027177

Air-Transport IT Services Inc. Annual Maintenance and Support for A
2008418 Billing Software

$475,000 – $574,000 Jervis B. Webb Company of Modifications to the Reconciliation Room C
Canada Ltd. 2028435 Bag Return System at T1, Pier F

Ernst & Young LLP Outsourcing Advisory Services (3 phases) B
2029087

$575,000 – $774,000 Hewlett Packard (Canada) HP Hardware/Software Support Renewal 2009 C
2029053

WPS North America Inc. T3 – Parking Revenue Control System C
2025889 Maintenance and Upgrade

Gazzola Paving Limited Rehabilitate Taxiway A from AL to AM as well D
2028815 as Relocation of Guidance Signs

Quartet Services Inc. Local and Long Distance Service to GTAA A
2028668 Customers

$775,000 – $874,000 – – –

$875,000 – $974,000 – – –
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Reason for
Contract Award without
Value Range Contractor Description of Contract Public Tender

$975,000 –$1,000,000+ IBI Group Automated Vehicle Identification System and C
2007282 Prearranged and Dispatch System Maintenance

Black and McDonald Limited > Electronic Display Services D
2028252 > Cable Management Services (CMS) and 

Equipment Room Maintenance Services
> Planet Documentation Services for CMS
> UPS Management Services

Dufferin Construction Apron Snow Removal Support Services A
2022374

Gazzola Paving Limited Groundside Snow Removal A
2023241 Maintenance Services

Reason for Award Glossary

A Where the Corporation determines that in connection with an existing contract for the supply of goods or
services which is expiring, it is most efficient and practicable to award a new contract to the existing contractor or
services supplier where such contractor or services supplier has developed a specific skill set or knowledge base
in respect of that contract, or where the circumstances of the redevelopment program dictate that efficiency,
time, cost or safety concerns dictate such action.

B Where there is a limited number or just one contractor, or services supplier who can provide the required goods
or services.

C Where warranty, patent or copyright requirements or technical compatibility factors dictate a specific supplier.

D In any other circumstances where the President and Chief Executive Officer determines it is necessary to do so
having regard to the safe, efficient and practicable operation of Toronto Pearson.
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Board of
Directors 

W. Douglas Armstrong 
Douglas Armstrong is a retired
executive and served as a Board
member for a number of professional
and community service committees.

Appointed by the Government of Canada

Patrick S. Brigham 
Patrick Brigham is Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Brigham
Holdings Inc. (BHI) and is a director
of several boards. 

Named Community Member

Scott R. Cole 
Scott Cole, P.Eng., is President 
of Cole Engineering Group Ltd., 
a civil engineering company. 

Nominated by the Regional

Municipality of York

B. Mac Cosburn 
Mac Cosburn is a Professional
Engineer with 33 years of consulting
and business experience. He is a
current and past member of several
professional, hospital and charitable
boards. 

Named Community Member

Marilynne E. Day-Linton, Chair
Marilynne Day-Linton is a Chartered
Accountant with an extensive
background in the travel industry.
She also served as a Director of
several not-for-profit boards.

Named Community Member

Shaun C. Francis
Shaun Francis is President and 
Chief Executive Officer of Medcan
Health Management Inc., a leading
Canadian health management
company.

Appointed by the Government of Canada

Stephen J. Griggs
Stephen Griggs is Chairman and
Partner of Investeco Capital Corp., 
and an Executive Director for the
Canadian Coalition for Good
Governance. 

Nominated by the Regional 

Municipality of Peel

Brian Herner
Brian Herner is a Senior Corporate
Advisor, Founder and past President
and CEO of BIOREM Technologies
Inc., the leading supplier of biofilters
for air pollution control.

Nominated by the Regional

Municipality of Halton

Warren C. Hurren 
Warren Hurren is a Chartered
Accountant, a founding partner of
the accounting firm Hurren, Sinclair,
MacIntyre, and is an active community
member with the Ajax Rotary Club
and the Ajax-Pickering Board
of Trade.

Named Community Member

Vijay J. Kanwar 
Vijay Kanwar is President and
Chief Financial Officer of 
K.M.H. Cardiology and Diagnostic
Centres Inc., North America’s 
largest provider of nuclear 
cardiology services.

Appointed by the Province of Ontario

Norman B. Loberg 
Norman Loberg is a retired 
Enbridge Inc. senior executive. He is
currently Chairman and Director 
of Enersource Inc. and is a director 
of several public and private
sector boards. 

Named Community Member

Terry Nord 
Terry Nord is a senior advisor to 
start-up cargo airlines in Asia (China
and Indonesia) and to aircraft leasing
companies on aircraft purchase lease
contracts. 

Named Community Member

Poonam Puri 
Poonam Puri is an Associate Professor
at Osgoode Hall Law School, York
University; Associate Director, Hennick
Centre for Business and Law; and
Head of Research and Policy, Capital
Markets Institute, Rotman School of
Management, University of Toronto.

Nominated by the City of Toronto

Richard M. Soberman 
Richard Soberman is an associate 
of Trimap Communications Inc., 
and former Chair of Civil Engineering
at the University of Toronto. 
He is a transportation specialist. 

Named Community Member

Lawrence D. Worrall 
Lawrence Worrall is currently a
director of Magna International Inc. 
He is a past member of the General
Motors of Canada Board of Directors. 

Nominated by the Regional

Municipality of Durham

In Memoriam: Stanley G. Archdekin 
Mr. Archdekin served as a very
active and valued Director of the
Corporation from May 2006 until his
untimely passing in September 2009.
During this time, he was also a
member of the Corporate Governance
and Compensation Committee and the
Audit Committee, periodically serving
as the Audit Committee’s Acting Chair
in the absence of the Committee Chair.
His financial expertise and business
acumen served the Board and the
Audit Committee well during
his tenure.
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Corporate
Information

HEAD OFFICE ADDRESS

Greater Toronto 
Airports Authority

3111 Convair Drive
P.O. Box 6031
Toronto AMF
Ontario, Canada L5P 1B2

T: 416-776-3000
F: 416-776-3555 
WWW.GTAA.COM

EXECUTIVE TEAM

Lloyd A. McCoomb
President and 
Chief Executive Officer

J. Howard Bohan
Vice President, Operations
and Customer Experience

Brian P. Gabel
Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

Brian R. Lackey
Vice President, 
Strategic Planning and
Airport Development

Toby C.D. Lennox
Vice President, 
Corporate Affairs
and Communications

Gary K. Long
Vice President and 
Chief Information Officer

Vito Lotito 
Vice President, 
Human Resources 
and Administration

Douglas A. Love
Vice President, 
General Counsel 
and Secretary

Patrick C. Neville
Vice President, Facilities

Stephen A. Shaw
Vice President, Marketing 
and Business Development
(retired January 6, 2009)

Pamela Griffith-Jones
Vice President, Chief Marketing 
and Commercial Development Officer
(effective March 30, 2009)

ANNUAL PUBLIC MEETING

The GTAA’s Annual Public Meeting
will be held on May 12, 2010, 
at 1:30 p.m. at the GTAA’s Fire and
Emergency Services Training Institute,
2025 Courtneypark Drive East,
Mississauga, Ontario

PUBLIC INFORMATION

Requests for general information
should be directed to:
Customer Service
Telephone: 416-776-9892
Email: customer_service@GTAA.com

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Mississauga, Ontario

LEAD BANK

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Toronto, Ontario

PRINCIPAL LEGAL COUNSEL

Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt
Toronto, Ontario

PUBLICATIONS AVAILABLE

The GTAA offers publications on
a variety of topics. Please visit 
www.gtaa.com/en/gtaa_corporate/
publications/ to view the complete
list or email your request to
Publication@GTAA.com 
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The Greater Toronto Airports Authority (GTAA) was incorporated in 1993 
and manages Toronto Pearson International Airport under terms set out 
in our December 1996 lease with the Canadian federal government. 

The focus of the GTAA continues to be on competitiveness, growing 
the airport’s status as an international gateway, meeting the needs of 
our travellers, and ensuring the long-term success of the organization, 
our airline customers and the regional economy.
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